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ISSION STATEMENT

To provide a fair, efficient, ethical
and transparent medium for the conduct
of a viable securities market
that facilitates the mobilization of
capital to finance the growth and
development of the nation.
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OUR CORPORATE OBJECTIVES

The Jamaica Stock Exchange was incorporated as a
private limited company in August 1968, with the
stock market commencing operations in February

1969.

Its principal objectives are:

To promote the orderly and transparent development
of the stock market and the stock exchange in Jamaica.

To ensure that the stock market and its broker members
operate at the highest standards practicable.

. To develop, apply and enforce the rules designed to
ensure public confidence in the stock market and
its broker-members.

To provide facilities for the transaction of stock
111 market business.

information and maintain local and international
relationships which can enhance the development

I
'I]]’ 1 To conduct research, disseminate relevant
. of the Jamaica stock market.
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NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Thirty Third (33") Annual General Meeting of the Jamaica Stock Exchange will be held
at the Jamaica Stock Exchange, 40 Harbour Street, Kingston on Thursday, June 24, 2010, commencing at 1:00 p.m. for the
following purposes:

1.

5.

To Elect Directors
The Directors retiring from office by rotation pursuant to Article 103 of the Company's Articles of Incorporation are: Mr.

Christopher Berry, Mr. Mark Croskery, Mrs. Rita-Humphries-Lewin, Miss Anya Schnoor and Mrs. Jane George. Allthe
Directors, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

To consider and (if thought fit) pass the following resolution:

“That the Directors retiring by rotation and offering themselves for re-election be re-elected en bloc.”

To Fix the Remuneration of the Auditors

To fix the remuneration of the Auditors or to determine the manner in which such remuneration is to be fixed.

To consider and (if thought fit) pass the following Resolution:

“That the Directors be and are hereby authorized to fix the remuneration of the Auditors at a figure to be agreed with them.”
To Adopt the Audited Financial Statements

To receive, the Audited Group Financial Statements for the year ended December 31, 2009, together with the Directors’
and Auditors' Reports.

To consider and (if thought fit) pass the following Resolution:

“That the Audited Group Financial Statements for the year ended December 31, 2009, and the Reports of the Directors and
Auditors be adopted.”

To Fix the Fees of the Directors

To fix the fees of the Directors or to determine the manner in which such fees are to be fixed.
To consider and (if thought fit) pass the following Resolution:

“That the Directors be and are hereby authorized to fix their fees for the fiscal period 2010/2011.”

To transact any other ordinary business of the company.

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD

Marlene J. Street-torrest
Secretary
Dated: April 15, 2010

IMPORTANT NOTE FOR MEMBERS WHO ARE NOT ABLE TO ATTEND:

A member entitled to attend and vote at the meeting can appoint a Proxy to vote on his behalf. The person so authorized shall be entitled
to exercise the same powers as the member whom he represents.
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The Directors' submit herewith the Statement of Consolidated Revenue Expenses, Profit, Assets and Liabilities of the Jamaica
Stock Exchange and its wholly owned subsidiary, the Jamaica Central Securities Depository for the year ended December 31,
2009.

Operating Revenue for the year was $158,971 compared to the revenue of $470,270 for 2008, a decrease of 66%. Investment
Income was $104,416m compared to $91,027m, an increase of 13.389% over 2008.

Total expenses for the year decreased by 6.3% to $283.2min 2009. There was a deficit from operation of $84,742m compared
toasurplus of $173,977min 2008.

Total assets of the company and its subsidiary as at December 31, 2009 were $1,209,643m compared to $1,332,628m for
2008. These figures include Compensation Fund Asset of $510,134m and $544,281m for 2008 and 2009 respectively.
Shareholders equity increase by $39,910m from $914,217m to $954,127m.

The auditors, Deloitte and Touche have signified their willingness to continue in office.

Mr. Curtis Martin
Chairman
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Mr. Curtis Martin - Chairman

Mr. Curtis Martin is Deputy Group President of the Capital &
Credit Financial Group, as well as President & CEO of Capital
& Credit Merchant Bank (CCMB) and Capital & Credit
Securities Ltd. (CCSL). He is an Investment Banker with over
29 years experience in the financial services sector. As Bank
President, Mr. Martin has responsibility for CCMB's strategic
and Operational development, and its day-to-day
management. Since 2006 he has been appointed Chairman
of the Jamaica Stock Exchange.

Curtis holds a B.Sc. (Hons.) in Management Studies from the
University of the West Indies and an MBA in Finance from
Columbia University.

He is married with two (2) children and is very keen on
spending time with his family. His interest includes Bee
Keeping and International Finance.

Mr. Edwin McKie

Mr. McKie is the Chairman and Managing
Director of M/VL Stockbrokers Limited. Mr.
McKie, who was awarded the Order of
Distinction ~ Commander Class for his
services to Jamaica in the field of banking, is
a former trade administrator and former
Chairman of the Trade Board and the
Agriculture Credit Bank. He also served as a
Board Member of the National Investment
Bank of Jamaica and the Bank of Jamaica.
He currently serves on the Board of the
Development Bank of Jamaica. Mr. McKie is
the Chairman of the Corporate Governance
Committee of the JSE.

Mrs. Rita Humpries-Lewin

Mrs. Humphries-Lewin is a past
Chairman of the JSE and is the Founder
and Chairman of the Barita Group of
Companies which includes Barita
Investments Limited, Barita Unit Trusts
Management Company Limited and
Barita Portfolio Management Company
Limited. She is one of the pioneers of
the stockbroking industry having been
in the business for approximately thirty-
five (35) years.
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Mr. Donovan Perkins

Mr. Donovan Perkins is the President
& CEO of Pan Caribbean Financial
Services Limited (PCFS). In addition
to serving on the Boards within Pan
Caribbean, Mr. Perkins serves on the
Boards of Pan-Jamaican Investment
Trust Ltd., First Jamaica Investments
Ltd., Jamaica Producers Group Ltd.,
National Insurance Fund and the
National Water Commission. Heis an
active executive of the financial
services community, having served as
Vice President of the Jamaica Bankers
Association and the Private Sector
Organization of Jamaica.

Mr. Christopher Williams

Mr. Christopher Williams is the Managing
Director of NCB Capital Markets Limited.
He currently serves as Chairman of the
Jamaica Association for the Deaf, Director
of the Jamaica College Old Boys
Association, Director of the Jamaica
College Foundation, and Council Member
of the Jamaica Securities Dealers
Association.

Mr. Williams is also a Director of several
NCB subsidiaries, these are:
NCB (Cayman) Limited, NCB Investments
Limited, NCB Capital Markets (Cayman)
Limited and NCB Insurance Company
Limited.

Mr. Mark Croskery

Mr. Mark Croskery is the President & CEO of Stocks
& Securities Ltd (SSL) and serves as a Company
Specific Director. Mr. Croskery is responsible for the
Company's growth, profitability and strategic vision
to make SSL the leading provider of Global Wealth
Management solutions to Jamaicans.

Mr. Croskery previously interned at Prudential
Financial, Inc. (now Wachovia Securities) in Miami,
Florida on the fixed income desk before going on to
being the leading Wealth Manager at National
Commercial Bank Capital Markets Ltd. (NCB CM) as
wellas an Equity Trader.

iR Mr. Croskery serves as a Director on the Sugar

Company of Jamaica (SCJ) where he serves on the
Finance and Audit Sub-Committee, as a
Commissioner on the Jamaica Racing Commission
(JRC) where he serves on the Finance and Audit
Sub-Committee and on the Island Ice & Beverage

Company (Jamaica).

Mr. Allan Lewis

Mr. Allan Lewis is the Senior Vice President, Group
Strategy, of the Victoria Mutual Group Limited
where he has served for the past 3 years. Prior to
this, Mr. Lewis served as Managing Director of
Prime Asset Management Limited, where he is
currently a Director. Mr. Lewis has had a
distinguished career in life insurance and pension
fund risk management, asset management, and
strategic planning. He achieved the designation
Associate of the Society of Actuaries in 1986, and a
Masters in Business Administrationin 1987.

Notwithstanding his professional
accomplishments, he is committed to supporting
the wider community. His passion for primary and
secondary education motivated him to obtain a
Masters in Education in 2002. Allan is a member of
the Kiwanis Club of North St. Andrew; a mentor for
students at the University of the West Indies and as
a member of the Board of Directors of the Mona
Preparatory School and Foundation
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Mr. Christopher Berry

Mr. Christopher Berry has been the
Chairman of Mayberry Investmerts
Limited since 1993. A former Depuity
Chairman of the JSE, he sits on seweral
boards, including the Jamaica Certral
Securities Depository, the Forestry
Conservancy, Apex Health Care
Associates Limited, Apex Pharmacy
Limited, Air Jamaica Limited, Jamaica
Public service Company and Planririg
Institute of Jamaica.

He has over twenty years experience in
the securities industry, having johed
Mayberry Investments Limited in 14&7
when he was responsible for corporate
planning and information technology.
He subsequently led the companiy's
listing on the Jamaica Stock exchangeir
2005.

Mr. Robert Drummond

Mr. Robert Drummond is President of First Global
Financial Services Limited (FGFS), the securities
trading and asset management subsidiary of
GraceKennedy Limited since November 2008. As a
former Principal of GK Investments,
GraceKennedy's portfolio of financial and retail
businesses. Mr. Drummond executed acquisitions
andthe launch of new businesses.

Mr. Drummond's career has included appointments
in general management, strategic planning for
Fortune 500 companies such as American Express
Company, ITT Sheraton Corp and Nike Inc.
Additionally, Mr. Drummond has spent several years
as a management consultant assisting Caribbean
and U.S. companies with strategy implementation
and business process improvement. He began his
career in public accounting with
PricewaterhouseCoopers in New York City.

He also serves as a member of the Board for First
Global Financial Services Limited and the Jamaica
Stock Exchange and is currently the Vice President
of the Rotary Club of St. Andrew.

=
a

Mr. Julian Mair

Miss Anya Schnoor

Miss Anya Schnoor is the Chief Executive
Officer of Scotia DBG Investments Limited
and the Senior Vice President of the
Scotiabank Group's Wealth Management
Division. She is also the President of the
Jamaica Securities Dealers Association and
has served as the President of the Primary
Dealers Association. She is a Director of
Scotia DBG Merchant Bank, Scotia DBG
Fund Managers and Prime Asset
Management Limited. She is also a member
of the HEART NTA Finance Committee and
sits on Scotiabank Jamaica's ALCO
Committee.

Mr. Julian Mair is the Chief Investment
Strategist at Jamaica Money Market
Brokers and has over 16 years of
experience in the Jamaican financial
sector. Mr. Mair has held positions at
leading Jamaican financial institutions
including Head of Treasury and
Investment services at Dehring, Bunting
and Golding and Senior Trader and
Cambio Manager at JMMB. In addition,
Mr. Mair was formerly the Managing
Director of Lets Investment Ltd. He is a
founding member of the Jamaica
Securities Dealers Association.  He
serves as a Director of JMMB Securities
Limited, JMMB International and JMMB
BDIAmerica.
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His:s Dian Black

Mizs Dian Black is the Director,
Securities Management (Debt
Marnagement Unit) in the Ministry of
Finance & the Public Service. In this
capacity she has responsibility for all
activities related to the registrar and
payments functions for government
seciurities and provides the necessary
interface between the JSE and the
Favernment.

Sher is the Chairman of the Audit and
Firrance Committee of the Board of the
JSE.

Mrs. Jane George

Mrs. Jane George assumed the role of
Corporate Attorney-at-Law and Head of
the Legal Department and Corporate
Secretariat of the Lascelles, deMercado
Group of Companies in 2001. She is a
member of the Law Society of England &
Wales and the Jamaican Bar Association.

Mrs. George, who has approximately 20
years experience and expertise in the
legal profession in Jamaica and the
United Kingdom, joined the Board of the
Jamaica Stock Exchange in 2008. She
sits on the Regulatory and Market
Oversight Committee and the Conduct
Review Committee of the Board.

Mr. Garth Kiddoe

Mr. Kiddoe is the former Dean of the
Faculty of Business and Managerr ert
at the University of Technolagy,
Jamaica and previously the Chigf
Financial Officer at the Jamaica Puklic:
Service Company Limited. He is the
immediate past President of the
Institute of Chartered Accountants of
the Caribbean as well as its
representative on the Board of Trustaes
of the Caribbean Court of Justice TrList
Fund. He is a Past President of the
Institute of Chartered Accountants of
Jamaica and of the Jamaica Institution
of Engineers. Mr. Kiddoe is the former
Chairman of the Audit and Finance
Committee of the Board of the JSE.

Mr. Livingstone Morrison

Mr. Livingstone Morrison is the
Deputy Governor of the Bank of
Jamaica with responsibility for
Finance and Technology, Payment
Systems, Investment and Risk
Management.

Mr. Morrison joined the staff of the
Bank of Jamaica in 1982 and worked
for several years in the Financial
Institutions Supervisory Division.

Between 1998 and 2002, Mr. Morrison
served as the Division Chief of the
Finance and Technology Division,
with core responsibilities for strategic
management of the accounting,
finance, and information and
communication technology functions
of the Bank. Mr. Morrison is also a
Director of the Jamaica Central
Securities Depository.
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Miss Nicole Lambert

Ms. Lambert is a consummate professional with
nineteen years experience in various aspects of
the practice of law including commercial and
conveyancing transactions, litigation and
arbitration proceedings and the administration of
pension funds, trusts and estates. Her
experience of practice in the Private and Public
Sectors, has yielded exceptional technical skills
and a unique value-added perspective supported by influential
contacts.

Ms. Lambert is the holder of a Bachelor of Laws (Upper Second Class
Honours) from the University of the West Indies; a Certificate of Legal
Education from the Norman Manley Law School; a Diploma in Business
Administration from the Institute of Management and Production,
Jamaica; and a Master of Laws (Commercial and Corporate Law) from
the London School of Economics and Political Science.

Ms. Lambert's professional experience is as varied as it is
accomplished. At present, sheis a Consultant Attorney-at-Law in the
Commercial Department of Samuda & Johnson, Attorneys-at-Law
where she acts as Counsel in a variety of commercial and corporate
transactions including, corporate acquisitions, loan and corporate
financing, commercial real estate and construction development, and
the administration of estates and pension funds.

Mrs. Marlene Street Forrest

Mrs. Marlene Street-Forrest is the
General Manager of the Jamaica Stock
Exchange. Mrs. Street-Forrest has a
B.Sc. in Management Studies and an
MBA. She has over twenty five years of
combined experience in financial and
general management. Her mandate as
General Manager of the JSE, is to
continue the process of developing the
Exchange, ensuring that cutting edge
technology is used to assist in providing
the greatest level of efficiencies in the
market. Mrs. Street-Forrest, who is a
Justice of the Peace, serves as
Secretary of the Board of the JSE and a
Director of the Jamaica Central
Securities Depository Ltd.

LISTING & STANDARDS COMMITTEE
Chairman:Mr. Curtis Martin
Mrs. Rita Humphries-Lewin
Mrs. Marlene Street-Forrest
Mr. Livingstone Morrison

JSEMEMBERSHIP COMMITTEE
Chairman:Mr. Livingstone Morrison
Miss Dian Black
Mr. Garth Kiddoe
Mrs. Jane George
Miss Nicole Lambert

COMPENSATION COMMITTEE

Chairman:Mr. Curtis Martin
Mr. Garth Kiddoe
Mr. Donovan Perkin
Mr. Mark Croskery

REGULATORY AND MARKET OVERSIGHT COMMITTEE
Chairman:Mr. Livingstone Morrison
Miss Dian Black
Mr. Garth Kiddoe
Mrs. Jane George
Miss Nicole Lambert

AUDIT & ANANCECOMMITTEE
Chairman:Miss Dian Black
Mr. Garth Kiddoe

Mr. Ed McKie (or alternate Dr. Derrick McKoy)

Mr. Allan Lewis

Mr. Livingstone Morrison
Mrs. Jane George

Mr. Mark Croskery

NOMINATING COMMITTEE

Chairman:Mr. Curtis Martin
Mr. Livingstone Morrison
Mrs, Marlene Street Forrest

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Chairman:Mr. Garth Kiddoe
Mr. Ed McKie (or alternate Dr. D. McKoy)
Miss Anya Schnoor
Mrs, Marlene Street Forrest

EXECUTIVECOMMITTEE
Chairman:Mr. Curtis Martin
Mr. Christopher Berry
Mr. Ed McKie
Mr. Julian Mair
Mrs. Marlene Street Forrest
Mr. Robin Levy
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From left to right:

Miss Michelle Sirdar - Manager, Registrar Services (JCSD)

Mrs. Beulah Johnson - Manager, Equity Operations (JCSD)

Mr. Robin Levy - General Manager, JCSD & Deputy General Manager, JSE
Miss Riccalya Robb - Trading Officer

Mrs. Marlene Street Forrest - General Manager, JSE

Miss Josephine Lewis - Manager, Trustee Services (JCSD)

Miss Suzette McNaught - Manager, Information Technology & Systems

Mrs. Doreen Parsons Smith - Human Resources Officer

Mr. Wentworth Graham - Chief Regulatory Officer

Mrs. Suzette Whyte - Accounting Manager

Mr. Neville Ellis - Senior Marketing Officer



JAMAICA
STOCK
EXCHANGE

Mr. Curtis Martin
Chairman

Economic Outlook

2009 saw the deepening of the global recession which began in 2008 and
which had its genesis in the US financial market. The continued recession
affected the Jamaican economy in every sphere. The impact was felt in all
areas of the productive sector but primarily in the areas of mining, remittance
and the tourism sectors. This resulted in rising unemployment rate from 11% in
2008 to 14.5% in 2009. The country's Gross Domestic Product also declined
by 4%. Additionally, the country's public debt ballooned to 131.7% of GDP in
2009 from 116.3% in 2008, a 15.4% increase. However, a positive indicator
was that of inflation which declined by 13.4%, falling from 22% in 2008 to 8.6%
in 2009.

The Government towards the end of the year took a very bold step to reduce
the country's debt servicing by introducing the Jamaica Debt Exchange (JDX)
Programme. It is expected that this should go a far way in reducing interest
rates and stimulate the economy in 2010.

Junior Market

The Jamaica Stock Exchange realized from the onset that 2009 would have
been a very challenging year for the Jamaican economy on a whole and
business in particular. Therefore, we concentrated on long term strategies that
will ensure continued growth of the market. The establishment of the Junior
Market to allow small and medium size companies to raise capital on the
market was one such initiative.

Members of the Board

I would like to say special thanks for the support of the Board Members
throughout the year. During a difficult year the support of our team, was of
utmost importance. We were able as a team that is, members of the Board,
Management and Staff, to keep the Jamaica Stock Exchange at the forefront of
the economy by the continual delivery of quality service and provide the level of
disclosures required for a vibrant capital market despite the tremors. The
Board members continued the work from 2008 to ensure that the Junior Market
was up and running in 2009. We achieved this result very early in the year,
which shows that team work is fundamental to great achievements.

Vision 2010

We used the opportunity throughout the year to continue to lay the
foundation for growth and development in 2010, preparing for an upsurge in
the market in 2010 by implementing several measures one of which is the
continued education for the industry.

We recognized that there is a need for continuous education within the market.

We will be moving to establish our e-Learning campus to allow professionals
within and outside of the industry to have access to training online.

(Continued)
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We will also be looking to grow the markets by having increased listing on the Junior Market and the Main Market to allow for
more choice in stocks and more growth in the economy. We realized that with the JDX coming on stream in 2010, investors will
be looking to the Stock Market for investment opportunities and we want to be in position to offer these opportunities to our
investors. The same will be true for business owners as the economy gets more difficult, persons will turn to equity financing
and this will make the Junior Market very attractive, given the tax benefits.

Although we are expecting the challenges which were encountered in 2009 to continue in 2010/11 period as the fallout
continues in the global market place. We are, however, quite optimistic that the worst is behind us and we are putting in place
the elements that will allow for a quick turnaround, as soon as there are improvements in the market place. We endevour to
provide afair, efficient and transparent stock market as an integral part of the growth of the capital market

Financial Highlights

The year ended December 31, 2009 saw the continuation of the challenges from 2008 which were reflected in the Company's
Consolidated Financial Statements. The Company's Financial Statements show that Operating Income for 2009 was $159
million representing a decline of $311 million or 66% over the figure of $470 million recorded for the previous year. Net surplus
for 2009 was $43 million down from $207 million; a decline of $164 million or 79.3%. Investment Income was $104 million, up
from $91 million in 2008.

The main index ended the year at 83,321.96 points, up by 3,169.93 points or 3.95% from the close in 2008 of 80,152.03
points. The slight improvement in the index of 3.95% resulted from increased activities towards the end of the year.

Mr. Curtis A. Martin
Chairman
Jamaica Stock Exchange
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Chairman's Report, Regulatory & Market Oversight Committee
2009 Market Oversight Report

The 2009 Annual Report provides an opportunity for sharing information on the
strategies being pursued by the Regulatory and Market Oversight Committee
(RMOC) of the Jamaica Stock Exchange (JSE), towards delivering its mission

Mr. Livingstone Morrison
Chairman

1.

6.

which is to promote market transparency, integrity and efficiency by protecting and
advancing stakeholders' welfare through the enforcement of rules, market
surveillance, broker inspections and the assessment of market documents and
financial statements.

Following the demutualization of the Exchange in 2007 and the establishment of
the regulatory framework, supported by the creation of the RMOC to which the
Board of the JSE delegated all regulatory responsibilities, significant steps have
been taken towards separation of the commercial activities from the regulatory
functions of the Exchange. The RMOC which is comprised of independent directors
ofthe Exchange, and which is inits second year of existence, has been focused on:

Structuring and directing the regulatory functions of the Exchange;

Monitoring the adequacy and effectiveness of the regulatory programme of
the Exchange and assessing regulatory performance;

Reviewing the rules of the Exchange to ensure consistency with current
international standards;

Monitoring compliance by market participants and listed companies;
Monitoring trading activities by member dealers; and

Enforcing the rules of the Exchange.

As we administer these activities, we have been mindful of the need to build sound
institutional arrangements to support the effective discharge of the functions. ltisin
this context that significant time and attention was devoted during the year to
streamlining the work processes of the Regulatory and Market Oversight
Department (RMOD) which is responsible for administering the day-to-day
regulatory and market oversight functions. Reporting arrangements covering all
regulatory activities have also been established and implemented to ensure that the
independent directors of the RMOC are provided with all relevant information on
market activities and rule compliance on a timely basis. In this context, there was a
43% increase in regulatory activities during the year in review when compared to
2008. Further, the programme for inspection of member dealer operations was fully

(Continued)
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administered during the year in addition to which a new Compliance Management System was launched and new guidelines
covering Management Discussion and Analysis prepared for early implementation.

The members of the RMOC are satisfied with the level of independence, having regard to the effective separation of the
regulatory activities from the commercial activities of the Exchange, and the steps taken to ensure the transparency and
integrity of regulatory processes. During the year ahead we will continue our work towards modification, refinement and
enhancement of rules, supervision and market surveillance. In addition, we continue to invest in the building regulatory
capacity to include the enhancement of the regulatory framework to accord with changes in international best practices and
the recruitment and retention of staff that are appropriately trained to deliver on the regulatory imperatives.

Mr. Livingstone Morrison.
Chairman
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The Jamaica Stock Exchange and Its Subsidiaries

The Audit & Finance Committee continues its mandate (which includes risk regulations) to ensure that there was good
oversight and governance of the company's finances. The Committee's main focus for 2009 was on investments and internal
audit review in order to ensure compliance of the company's policy guideline in respect to effective management of the
company's finances. Throughout the year the Committee worked assiduously on the strengthening of policies relating to
counter party transactions, internal audit reviews, Investment, IT programme and software development.

Internal Audit

In relation to internal audit, the Committee focused primarily on areas of cash management, Trustee Services (a new division)
and Equity Operations to ensure that all areas were efficiently managed and that there were effective uses of the company's
resources.

Stock Exchange Benchmarking Activities

The Audit & Finance Committee was also charged with the responsibility of ensuring that the Stock Exchange was performing
within the guidelines of international standards. In order to ensure proper benchmarking in respect to comparative ratio, the
Committee undertook major research activities both regionally and globally, the result of which was used as a measuring tool to
guide the Exchange activities.

Rationalization Programme

Given the global economic crises which impacted the Exchange there was the need for effective rationalization measure and
the Audit and Finance Committee was given this responsibility. The Committee was able to effectively monitor the
rationalization programme which allowed the Exchange to weather the storm of the global financial meltdown and emerged at
the end of 2009 a stronger organization.

Composition of the Committee
The current members of the Committee are :-
» DianBlack (Chair)
* EdMcKie
e Allan Lewis
*  Mark Croskery
* Livingstone Morrison
e Jane George

Sixteen meetings were held during the year with satisfactory attendance from all members.

’I\ﬁleanBlack
Chairman
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The Jamaica Stock Exchange and Its Subsidiaries

The Compensation Committee of the JSE is made up exclusively of non-executive directors and is chaired by the Chairman of
the Board Mr. Curtis Martin. Other members of the committee are:

* Mr. Garth Kiddoe
¢ Mr. Donovan Perkins
e Mr. Mark Croskery

The committee's mandate is to make recommendations on the Company's framework of executive remuneration. The
Committee reviews and approves corporate goals in relation to the CEO's compensation; evaluates the CEO's performance in
light of the company's goals and objectives and makes recommendations to the Board with respect to executive and non-
executive compensation.

Directors' fee, which is normally paid to non-Executive Members of the Company, totaled $7.14M during the 2009 period.

Mr. Curtis A. Martin
Chairman
Jamaica Stock Exchange
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Executive Summary

The Jamaica Stock Exchange Group is comprised of the Jamaica Stock Exchange Limited (JSE), Jamaica Central Securities
Depository Limited (JCSD) and JCSD Trustee Services Limited (JCSDTS). This Management Discussion and Analysis
(MD&A) of the JSE Group's financial condition and results of its operations is provided to enable stakeholders to assess the
financial health, material changes and results of its operation for the year ended December 31, 2009. It provides information on
liquidity and capital resources and gives a comparative examination of the current year under review against the previous
year's performance. The MD&A should be read in conjunction with our Audited Financial Statements and must be considered
as complimentary information to that which is provided in the audited statements and the accompanying notes there to. The
information presented is based on the best judgment of management, taking into consideration all our internal systems and
controls, our plans and the present programmes and policies that are being pursued.

The JSE, which completed its demutualization process in 2007, floated Variable Preference Shares in the market in May 2008
and was listed on its own Exchange on June 30, 2008. This signaled the beginning of a new era in the Exchange's history, with
a step towards more direct and widespread public ownership. New line items in our financial statements, such as dividend
payments for both preference shareholders and ordinary shareholders, have their origins in this development.

For further information and in keeping with the JSE Listing Requirement, financial information is also available on the JSE
Website www.jamstockex.com.

Executive Summary of Vision, Strategies and Priorities:

The vision, strategies and priorities of the individual companies, that is the Jamaica Stock Exchange, Jamaica
Central Securities Depository and JCSD Trustee Services, are complementary and aligned to the overarching
objective of facilitating capital market growth and development. The JSE Group of companies ensure that the trading
and settlement of different types of securities on a secure and efficient platform are realized.

Our Vision:

To be among the leading stock exchanges and securities depositories within the Caribbean Region; providing the best
operating electronically trading and settlement platforms offering a wide range of products and services.

Our Priorities:
. Grow & Innovate

We have pursued a path of developing products and services that will be attractive to the market, both to investors
wanting to invest in regulated investments and to companies who must look at low-cost equity financing to spur growth
of their companies. The plan takes into consideration the need to ensure that the Group diversifies its revenue stream,
capitalizing on products that are complementary to the business of Exchanges and setting a path for revenue stability
ina'bull' or 'bear' market.

We will match solid product offerings with good product delivery, as we compete vigorously for market share within the
financial services market.
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Summary of Long Term Vision includes:

> Offering Regionally and Globally diversified products

> Commitment to high standards of transparency and governance

> Continuously improving Shareholder Value

> To set a strong foundation in all critical divisions and subsidiaries to allow for long-term

growth and development
To enhance the attractiveness of the equities market to investors and businesses
To build internal competences and be among the top employers of choice in Jamaica

To be considered a partner that is essential to Nation building

YV V V V

To forge key regional and global partnerships in furtherance of these goals

Summary of Our Performance Measurements

> High Customer and Employee Satisfaction

> Financial measurement including growth and profitability targets, net profit and return on
equity

> Diversification of products and services scoring at 50:50 split with progressively less

emphasis on equities contributions

> Increase in listings on the Main & Junior Exchanges

Market Conditions and Outlook

Regional and Global Capital Markets continue to be battered by the events which started in 2008 and the market continued to
be affected by local and Global economic crises. The Government and the Bank of Jamaica, while putting in place measures to
stem the pressures brought about by the crisis, have been unable to prevent the fall-out in many of the major industries within
the Country. Consequently this has affected both business and consumer confidence and has had a negative impact on the
Stock Exchange. Investors seem to have burrowed further into a non-investment mode while business owners, which were
poised to list their companies on the main market, largely took a 'wait and see' mode.

The market was not without its positives however, as the launch of the Junior Stock Market was widely hailed as an excellent
vehicle for raising capital, with the added benefit of the most effective tax shield for small and medium sized business. The
prospects for listing and contributions to employment, business development and the Economy will continue well into the year
2010 and beyond.

The JSE Group's normal operating revenue, which does not include any large one-off block transactions due to activities such
as mergers and acquisitions, are highly dependent upon the level of market activities on our exchange. These activities are
measured by looking at volume and value traded, number of transactions, market capitalization of the securities and number of
listings on the Exchange. The Exchange benefitted from the listing of one main market listing and one Junior Market listing in
2009. JCSD and JCSDTS lead the way for diversification of revenue during the year through the provision of registrar and
trustee services respectively to the business community, registering significant success in growing revenue and increasing
those Companies' profitability. Indicative industry demand is that both lines of business are expected to continue their growth
trends throughout 2010.
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We think it is fair to say that 2010 will still see signs of an economy that is just beginning to fully address the issues of the global
meltdown, which would have impacted many of the companies listed on the Exchange. Therefore despite the expected
internal and external developments, the corresponding benefits to our revenue and profitability will not be seen until 2011 and
beyond.

(The Market Conditions and Outlook section above contains certain forward-looking statements)

Market Operations & Trading

Over the 253 trading days in 2009, total volume of ordinary units traded amounted to 1.66 billion valued at J$11.5 billion. In
comparison to 2008, this was a decrease in volume of 633.61 million or 27.60% and a decrease of $12.86 billion or 52.77% in
value traded. The total number of ordinary transactions for 2009 was 16,029, a decrease of 14,283 or 47.12% when compared
to the previous year. The total number of all shares traded in volume and value for the year was 1.76 billion units and $12.19
billion, respectively, being fairly consistent in being below prior year levels throughout the year, as evidenced at chart 1 below.
This included block market activity which registered trade volumes of over 102.7 million units valued at $675.70 million.

In 2009, market capitalization decreased marginally by approximately $52.4 billion or 8.77% of total to close at $544.88 billion
in December 2009. The decline was largely due to generally bearish market conditions continuing throughout the year, but
more significantly because of two de-listings during the year (Goodyear Jamaica and Sagicor Financial Corporation). The
sharper downward trend of 2008 as opposed to the shallower decline of 2009 is quite evidentin Chart 2.

(Continue on next page)
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Chart 2
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As at the end of 2009: the JSE Index advanced by 3,169.93 points to close at 83,321.96 points, per Chart 3 below; the All
Jamaican Composite Index declined by 2,999.16 points to close at 70,995.77 points; and the JSE Select Index declined by
88.69 points to close at 1,896.05 points, in comparison to the 2008 year end closing indices. There were two new indices that
were introduced in 2009: the Cross Listed Index, comprising of the cross listed companies on the JSE, that began on March 2,
2010; and the Junior Market Index that was launched on April 2, 2010 but not engaged until our first listing in October. The
Cross Listed Index declined by 37.08 points or 3.71% to close at 962.92 points whilst the Junior Market Index advanced by
50.01 points or50.01% to close at 150.01 points.

Chart 3

.- !.
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'. The performance of the market for 2009 was also captured in an advance/decline ratio and capital appreciation. The
~ advance/decline ratio indicated that a total of 18 ordinary stocks advanced and 19 declined, while no ordinary stock registered
~ unchanged prices. For 2009, 1 company experienced price appreciation of 100% from the 18 stocks that had advanced during
~ theyear. Table 1 (below) shows the top advancers and decliners for 2009, while the succeeding Charts indicate the recent five

- years of JSE trading history. /' .
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Table 1 - Top Advancers and Decliners for 2009
WINNERS % LOSERS %
Ciboney Limited 100.00% | Hardware & Lumber 65.00%
Jamaica Broilers Group 55.00% | Jamaica Money Market Brokers 45.58%
PanCaribbean Financial Services 50.83% | Berger Paints (Jamaica) 40.00%
Pan Jamaican Investment Trust 44.00% | FirstCaribbean Intl Jamaica Bank 39.52%
Sagicor Life Jamaica 25.36% | Kingston Wharves 35.83%
Montego Freeport 22.58% | LascellesdeMercado & Co 34.73%
Salada Foods Jamaica 19.23% | Radio Jamaica 33.00%
FirstCaribbean International 17.94% | Gleaner Company 32.95%
Pegasus Hotel 17.59% | Cable & Wireless (Jamaica) 24.00%
Jamaica Producers Group 12.57% | Mobay Ice Company Limited 21.65%

Chart 3 Recent Five Year History of Trading Data
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Overview of the Business

Both the Jamaica Stock Exchange and its subsidiary, the Jamaica Central Securities Depository, are licensed by the Financial

Services Commission to operate. The JSE and JCSD operate electronic trading and settlement platforms through a service
licensing agreement with reputable exchange service providers NASDAQ/OMX. The JSE boasts the most listings of equity
securities within the English-speaking Caribbean.

44 listed companies comprised of thirty eight (38) Ordinary Securities (37 listed on the JSE Main Market and 1 listed on
the JSE Junior Market) and nineteen (19) Preference Securities. Trading activities are concentrated in the Ordinary
and Preference Shares.

The JSE is the primary venue for the raising of equity capital in Jamaica. The total market capitalization as at
December 2009 was J$544.88 billion. The top five stocks were in the banking and insurance sectors and represented
67.3% of overall market capitalization.

The JSE maintains five main indices:

(i)  The JSE All Jamaican Composite
(iii) The JSE Select

(iv) The JSE Cross-Listed Index

(v) The JSE Junior Market Index

()  The JSE Market Index

The JSE Main Index is a market-weighted index comprising ordinary shares of all listed companies. The All Jamaican
Composite Index measures the performance of Jamaican Companies only while the JSE Select Index measures the
performance of the JSE's 15 most liquid securities. The JSE Cross-Listed Index measures the performance of the
companies registered outside of Jamaica and the JSE Junior Market Index measures the performance of the
companies listed on the Junior Market.

The JSE launched its Junior Market for small and medium sized companies who wish to raise between $50 million and
$500 million via the market and whose stated capital will not exceed $500 million in October 2009. This exciting
proposition has enjoyed the full support of the Government of Jamaica as evidenced by Cabinet approval of a total of
ten (10) years of tax exemptions on profits of these companies.

Year Ended December 31,2009 Compared with Year Ended December 31,2008

Net Surplus

The Net Surplus of the JSE Group for the year 2009 of $ 43.0 million represented a marked decrease of $164.69
million against the previous year. Income from Operations of $159 million was lower than the previous year's $470
million because income from trading activities continued to decrease and the Group did not have any significant one-
off transactions to augment regular trading activities, as had been the case in the prior year. Investment Income
increased by 14.7% however, from $91.0 millionin 2008 to $104.4 million in 2009.

Surplus & Earnings Per Share

The Deficit derived from Operations was $17.03 million, or -$0.61 per common share, for 2009, as compared with
2008's Surplus derived from Operations of $173.6 million or $6.19 per stock unit for 2008. As we had pointed out last
year, the Group was not expecting similarly high surplus or earnings per share in 2009, the negative bottom-line result,
which has a direct correlation to the global financial crisis and a downturn in the economy, is of great concern to the
management.
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Revenue

o The bulk of the earnings of the Group are from Cess Earnings, but with the ongoing JSE Group strategy of
revenue stream diversification, Income from seminars, publication, registrar, trustee and other services such
as market data sale is increasingly becoming a significant factor.

o The following table and charts provide a visual representation of the Core Business of the JSE Group. We
primarily derive income from trading and settlement, listing fees, pledge fees, investment income and other
related activities.

Table 2 JSE Group Revenue 2007 through 2009

2009 2008 2007
Cess 50,240,333 260,273,357 110,259,983
Fee Income
Annual Listing 40,805,566 36,084,823 32,726,700
Initial Listing 563,371 3,651,500 1,676,700
Supplementary Listing 154,928 699,642 389,091
Members & Attorney 7,500 17,500 12,500
Transaction 16,416,667 111,428,422 17,947,404
M aintenance 1,390,500 1,400,650 1,459,515
Trade Data 2,662,436 2,974,779 2,961,478
Registrar 6,373,902 4,409,732 3,682,287
Trustee 5,566,008 1,144,952
Membership Fee 1,325,000 1,124,000 1,639,800
Other Operating
Income
Regional Conference 12,180,000 13,255,000 11,628,000
Other Income 21,285,000 33,806,000 21,506,000
Investment Income 104,416,000 91,027,000 34,908,000
TOTAL 263,387,211 561,297,358 240,797,458

Chart 4a
I1SE Group's Revenue $000 (2009}
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Chart 4b Chart 4c
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\ The Group is organized into four main business segments, namely:
| (a) Exchange operations which deal with the operations and regulation of the exchange. -
{ (b) Depository Services which are involved with the transferring and holding of securities, *lil
1‘ shares, stocks, bonds and debentures. !
l-; (c) Investment Compensation Fund - Income derived from investing activities of the "1;'
; } Compensation Fund. ‘.'\
o (d) Investment Other Income derived from investing activities of the Group with the exception '-.=
!I. of (c). A
fl i (e) Other- Trustee, custodianship, company management and other activities .'1'|

: Trustee Services represents the latest addition to the number and types of services offered and we believe this is a
F] growth area given the synergies to be derived from the Exchange and Depository operations and from the increase in i
demand for trustee services with Jamaica and the Caribbean region. Wy

Expenditure

Management has held the Group's over-all expenditure tight, in keeping with commitments to rationalize expenditure. In order
to accomplish this, activities were restructured, resulting in job enlargements, a freeze on replacements and the hiring of only
mission critical employees. All other key areas of expenditure were examined to ensure that the best method of achieving the
result could be done at the lowest price. Total Expenditure in 2009 of $243.7 million was lower than 2008's $296.3 million. This
represented a 17.7% decrease over 2008 and further represented a cut in expenditure in real terms, factoring in the prevailing
inflation rate. Securities Commission Fee showed the most in marked decrease by $49.0 million or 82.7%. The only significant
increase was that of Staff Costs, which increased by $4.89 million or 4.3%.
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Staff Costs

It was not possible to complete the exercise we began in 2008, that of implementing all the recommendations made by
the consulting firm in respect to the Compensation Audit Review. Staff appreciated the necessity to restrain all areas of
expenditure including salaries and even agreed to a voluntary roll-back of increases that had been granted earlier in
the year, towards this end.

Advertising & Promotion

Critical to the growth and development of the Group is the education of both investors and persons within the listed
companies and companies that have the potential for listing. As a direct result of our strategy to grow involvementin the
stock market, the Group is now in aggressive mode to impart the message of the importance of the capital market and
the benefits to be derived by market players.

Securities Commission Fee

This is a function of the level of Cess Revenue earned. The Exchange levies 0.393 of 1% of the value of each
transaction on the market and the Financial Services Commission (FSC) earns 0.08% of this amount. In 2009, the
Cess Revenue was $50,240 million compared to $260,273 million in 2008, precipitating a sharp decrease in the
amount paid to the FSC from $59,178 million in 2008 to $10,219 million for the current year under review.

Rationalization of Expenditure

The Exchange plans to continue to relentlessly pursue a course of expense rationalization; ensuring that monies
expended provides the highest return on investment. We have successfully done so over the years and more so within
2009. The Group sees this drive to efficiency as one of the major lynchpins of our operations.

Revenue Reserves

The Group's Revenue Reserves decreased in 2009 to $255.3 million from $272.4 million in 2008 due to a net deficit of
$17.0 million derived from operations.

Five Year Financial Highlights

The table below shows the steep drop in revenue in 2009 after an increase in 2008 and consecutive declines in 2005 and 2006.
Profit showed a significant decline in 2009 over 2008 due primarily to the one-off transaction in 2008, which positively affected
that year's performance. In addition, the bull market and the global market conditions affected the year 2009. Where there are
only three years of comparison, this reflects the data upon the JSE being demutualized. Please refer to table and graphs
below:

Table 3 Five Year Financial Highlights

2005 2006 2007 2008 2009
Revenue ($000) 313,590 294 515 240,797 561,297 263,387
Surplus/ (Deficit ) * 114,213 8,213 44,116 207,703 43,019
Surplus derived from
Operations 25,167 34,114 (17,033)
Earnings per share $ 0.68 6.19 (0.61)

*

includes Compensation Fund

28




JAMAICA “Providing A Fair, Efficient and

STOCK .
EXCHANGE Transparent Stock Market
(Contd)
Revenus Net Profit After Tax

= 0%
2 a8 g ¥

S wooLg

100 £

5Llrp|u5dedr!qubfr::rr;r]p@raugng Earnings pershare 5
istributable

A0 0D g

30,000 34,114

- 25,167 b 6.19

20,000 :
= i1
S 10.000 e
e 2

! D.68

10,0040 2007 2008 20409 0 : o

20,004 =17,033 3 2007 2008 20419

204 ; :

Risk Management

The Group's overall risk management strategies have been re-examined and reworked in light of the environmental
factors that have affected the Exchange and will continue to be a factor in the ensuing years.

Of primary concern is the Group's dependence on income derived from equity trading or investment income could prove
detrimental to solvency and long-term viability. This is especially true given the Government's policy programme aimed
at reducing interest rates on Government securities. The Group's revenue base is now heavily dependent on member-
dealers creating new products and participating in those that are internally driven for growth. The possible absence of
high yielding Government of Jamaica Securities in the future will have implications for many member-dealers' overall
business models, for the Exchange's dependence on low-risk but high-yield investments and for the entire financial
services industry.

Investments

Management, through the Group's Investment Committee, continues to manage and review its investment
portfolios in line with the Investments Policy Guidelines, which are also periodically reviewed by the Audit & Finance
Committee of the Board. The Investment Management Committee receives and review data on current market
conditions and economic outlook; review various risk reports submitted including fair value, interest risk, liquidity
risk, currency risk and market risk. Meetings are held at least on a monthly basis. Analytical skill and financially
nimbleness are increasingly important for the effective management of portfolios in volatile investment climates
such as ours.
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Other Operational Risk Mitigation Strategies

IT Risk Mitigation Strategies

The Company's principal business activities rely on trading activities in the Market and by nature are subject to
various risks including systems downtime, which may result in loss of productivity, revenue and confidence in the
market. Consequently, redundancies, data protection measures, security measures and policies to ensure more
resilient and secure systems have been put in place by Management to ensure 100% availability during business
hours, as achieved for 2009.

Other IT-based risks is also minimized through appropriate segregation of duties, requisite training, adherence to
implemented polices, internal audits, continuing review and update of policies and close management oversight.

The JSE has adopted the IT Governance Framework, Cobit 4.1, which ensures that IT and business strategies are
aligned to achieve the following objectives:

» Useof ITto enable the organization by exploiting opportunities and maximizing benefits;
* Responsible use of IT resources;
»  Appropriate management of IT relates risks

Group Medium and Long Term Strategies

Due to the global financial meltdown, the negative impact of the unregulated schemes on the Jamaica economy, the high
interest rates that have prevailed for much of the last 2 years and the reduction of investor confidence in the market, the
exchange are faced with the significant challenge of attracting new entrants to the market and retaining current market players.
Market uncertainties have created new challenges but within them exist new opportunities. We believe that all our
stakeholders have come to appreciate the need for greater market information, education, regulation and product
diversification. To this end, the focus will be on the continuation of the following activities:

o Increased market educational activities through companies' and investors' outreach, school programmes and
training of market intermediaries.

o The continued focused through the JSE independent Regulatory and Market Oversight Division of Market Surveillance
and Member Dealer Inspection. The implementation of the State of the Art Surveillance System in 2009 was a welcome
addition to the slate of tools used by this division.

o More product offerings: through the sale of market data; the development of and maintenance of new indices; and
derivative products.

o Growing the Junior Market for the Small & Medium Sized Companies.
o Expansion and Growth of Registrar and Trustee Services
o The operational integration of our regional exchanges through the Caribbean Exchange Network

o Utilization of Information Technology to facilitate the drive for the growth & development of the Group and the Market.
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The year 2009 marked the end of a decade which saw several positive
transformations to the Jamaica Stock Exchange (JSE); changes that
are desighed to improve profitability, market confidence and the
delivery of products and services.

ENVIRONMENTAL FACTORS

The global economic crisis, the high interest rate policies and the effect of the
fall in many unregulated schemes all negatively impacted on the market in
2008 and continues throughout 2009. The country is still faced with the cut in
export earnings arising from the shutdown of a large portion of the
bauxite/alumina sector, the fall in remittances and revenue from other
products in the traditional and non-traditional sectors which could impact on
companies’ profitability and the ability of investors to invest. Not-with-
standing this, as we have seen in the past, if the measures that are taken to
reduce interest rates and if the foreign exchange rate can remain relatively
stable then the market may rebound.

All these factors impacted the psyche of investors in the equities market
bringing confidence to an all time low. This resulted in the strengthening of
the 'bear market' that had started in 2008 as many investors sought a more
conservative approach to investments or cashed in on their investments in
equity to meet cash flow needs.

We expect that these conditions will persist, though with some small
improvements, for much of 2010.

JSE PERFORMANCE IN 2009

As a direct result of environmental factors, the stock market experienced
declining stock prices and continued low levels of trading throughout 2009
and many companies with potential did not come to market to be listed.
Income from the main areas of JSE operation therefore declined significantly.

While efforts to constrain expenditure were successful and resulted in
reducing the year's expenses below the previous year in real terms and while
investment income was marginally higher than 2008, these positives were
insufficient to translate to a profitable outcome for the Group after discounting
for the Compensation Fund's Income. The JSE and its subsidiary, the
Jamaica Central securities Depository (JCSD), both experienced sharp
declines in revenue and profitability. JCSD Trustee Services Ltd., the new
subsidiary formed in 2008, however experienced its first surplus. The growth
of business in Trustees Service and Registrar services was positive in a
market of declines.

The negative financial results did not deter the Exchange from achieving
some positive milestones, including the celebration of our 40" Anniversary
with the successful staging of several events and activities designed to
continue the process of market education. One highpoint was the musical
evening of excellence, which captured through music and drama, the
Exchange's journey as a company twinned with Jamaica's journey as a
nation. Other functions included our annual capital markets conference and
our best practice awards, both of which continued to enjoy increasing interest
and good support.

Mrs. Marlene Street Forrest
General Manager
Jamaica Stock Exchange

(Continued)
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Throughout the year we embarked on an intensive marketing programme to educate and encourage small and medium sized
companies to take advantage of the recently launched Junior Stock Market. This we are convinced is a potential bright spot for
the growth and development of our market and the economy. Access Financial listed in 2009 and we are assured of many
more listings for 2010 and beyond.

The long awaited Caribbean Exchange Network continued as a 'work in progress' but with one major hurdle cleared, as the
Regional regulators signified their approval for the implementation of the CXN. However there is many a slip between the cup
and the lip and so we continue to work on the few hurdles that are left to clear. We continue to pursue this initiative, as we
believe this will redound to growth of the Regional capital markets.

We have started the development of the JSE e-Learning Campus, which is designed to provide post-graduate certification and
comprehensive, structured and continuous professional education to persons in the financial services sector. We expect to
launch this new initiative in 2010.

We believe that we need to accelerate the process of making relevant changes to our rules and procedures to enhance the
market and have therefore been working with our listed companies, member-dealers and investors to implement these
changes. Throughout the year, we also had discussions with the Government of Jamaica and other stakeholders towards
enhancing the market through service delivery and the introduction of new products. We urge you to look towards even more
products and innovations in the coming years.

OPPORTUNITES

In spite of the fragile economic environment, the JSE identified possibilities and achieved some firsts in 2009. Many new
products have been started in 2009 that will be completed in 2010 and many that were started in 2008 have now been
completed.

In April 2009, we successfully launched the Junior Stock Market, even though the delayed passing of the tax amendments to
codify incentives in September 2009 caused some hesitation by Companies coming to list. We also completed the
development and introduction of new bond indices, which are published daily on the Jamaica Stock Exchange's Website. The
Stock Market Game a simulated electronic trading and portfolio management competition aimed at improving market
understanding and getting younger persons involved in the market was launched in 2008 and has succeeded in attracting
many new entrants and broadening our reach within high schools and colleges across the island.

Sustainability is important to the Exchange. Therefore, we are proud to report that the initiatives that have been launched over
the decade, such as electronic trading and the implementation of new products and services such as our website, the Stock
Market Game and the Investment & Capital Markets Conference show potential for enhancing stakeholder value and have all
been maintained and enhanced through the dedication of our internal and external teams.

STAYING THE COURSE

Our vision remains focused on improving the capital market by creating products that will enhance investment experience and
encourage new companies to list on either the Main or the Junior Exchange. We also consider it an imperative to provide
greater value to our listed companies by identifying areas in which the overall cost of listing, inclusive of disclosure
requirements, can be minimized while raising the standards of effective and efficient communication to investors.

While the year has been challenging, we at the JSE continue to have successes in maintaining focus on our priorities and
fulfilling our mandate of fostering growth and development of the market through efficiency and transparency.

TRADING OPERATIONS IN 2009

In 2009, we implemented the Average Price as the method of determining the Close Price for daily trading. While this has
improved market perception in respect to manipulation, we are now examining the Circuit Breaker Rule to see whether we can
further improve the efficiency of the market operations in this regard.

There is always merit in introducing new blood to the market place through additional member-dealers. The Exchange

considered the auctioning of at least one seat in 2009 but discontinued the process due to the market conditions. It remains an
integral part of our strategic plan but this will be effected at the most opportune time.
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JSE OPERATING PLATFORMS

Our trading and settlement software and hardware platforms remained robust in 2009. We experienced no significant
downtime and have even improved on the previous year's performance. Despite this, we continue to examine the offerings
within the market to ensure that the platforms on which we operate are on par with our most developed contemporaries and
provide the most cost-effective return on investment. As we look towards offering new products and services to the market, we
will be using the coming year to request proposals from other service providers in the industry in order to ensure that we have
the best platforms for service delivery at the most competitive rate.

JSE CORPORATE ACTIVITIES AND NEW INITIATIVES

Ongoing Activities

A X 2

*0

Upgrades and Enhancement of trading platform for efficient market delivery

Upgrades of other supporting systems to ensure relevance and compliance

Website Enhancementincluding Stock Market Game geared at market education at the high school & tertiary level

Staff training

Continued Development of internal processes for CXN

DEPARTMENTAL HIGHLIGHTS

MARKETING ACTIVITIES

In keeping with the organization's goals and objectives, our Marketing Department worked assiduously to organize and
host several events and implemented a number of projects during the year to increase our customer base and to have
greater interaction with our stakeholders. In achieving this objective the JSE were engaged in the following
programmes:

U

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

High School Education Programme

This is geared towards educating high school students about the Stock Market. This programme continues to
make strides with forty-two (42) High Schools visiting the Exchange, setting the stage for continuous education
of the public.

National Investor Education Week
The JSE held several events marking the week of September 28, 2009 to October 3, 2009. As in the previous
year, we had good attendance.

Teacher's Outreach Programme:
The Teacher's Outreach Programme, which was introduced in 2008, continues to be a successful venture. Six
schools participated in the programme this year.

The JSE's Public Investor Outreach Programme:
There were nine Public Investor Outreach programmes held across the island.

JSE's Investments & Capital Market Conference:

The year 2009 saw the Exchange celebrating its 40" year anniversary. The JSE continued its vision of bringing
persons not only from across the Caribbean, but from Europe and North and South America, to exchange ideas
and network in an effort to continue the development of the Capital Market. The JSE took the opportunity to
honour the Rt. Hon. Edward Seaga, former Prime Minister of Jamaica, who was a founding member of the
Jamaica Stock Exchange.
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Evening of Musical Excellence:

The JSE continued its 40" year Anniversary on July 13, 2009 by hosting an Evening of Musical Excellence at the
Little Theater. This event was well supported and honoured many of the entertainers who contributed to
Jamaica's musical industry over the years.

Workshops:
The JSE hosted a series of workshops throughout the year. The objective of these workshops was to expose

stakeholders in the market to international best practices in the capital market. A total of four (4) workshops
were held and covered areas such as: Risk Management; Listing Companies on the Junior Market; Mentorship
for Junior Market companies; and Preparing Documentation for Listing.

The efforts that we have put into market outreach programmes and workshops continue to reap tremendous
benefits. This is evidenced by the fact that even though most companies had contracted on their expenditure,
employers are not averse to their employees participating in our workshops. We have flagged this area for
growth inthe mediumto long term.

Best Practices:

The year culminated in December 2009 with the JSE's Annual Best Practices Awards. The Awards are part of
an effort to encourage Listed Companies and Stock Brokerages participants to adopt international industry
standards and best practices and was launched in 2004. Companies are awarded for outstanding
performances in several categories, ranging from Best Annual Report to Best Investor Relations. The Best
Practices Awards Programme has become a calendar event and the criterion for each award is a benchmark for
companies within the industry.

The JSE through its Marketing and Communication's Department is committed to the process of dialoguing and
educating all the players in the market to allow all to operate at international standards.

INTERNAL AUDIT

Towards the end the year we outsourced our internal audit functions to PriceWaterhouse Coopers, as we are of the view
that this would further strengthen our internal controls and improve on our procedures. It seems to have paid good
results to date and we look forward to more contributions from PWC in the coming years.

INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY

The JSE continues to implement and utilize information systems that support and enhance its strategic objectives.

)

(ii)

Infrastructure and Core Business Applications

At the hub of the Exchange, we continue utilize an electronic trading, clearing and settlement platforms, which
are robust, secure and efficient. Brokers and other external users access the systems via our Wide Area
Network (WAN). As the JSE continues to expand its services, the infrastructure is continuously upgraded to take
advantage of the emerging trends.

Website

The JSE's Website is the 'public face' of the Exchange. In 2009 a significant revision was unveiled, as the site
had been made more functional, user-friendly and accessible. The website continues to be a very valuable
resource for information dissemination to our listed companies and for information gathering by investors,
financial analysts, researchers, students, and other visitors to the site.

Some of the valuable resources available on the site include daily and historical stock market information; trade
sheets; company news by subscription; charting capabilities; financial statements; information on listed
companies and member firms; membership subscription; our stock market game; portfolio manager; online
statement access; and archived trade sheets from 1969. Additionally, we have introduced subscription services,
such as RSS feeds where persons can subscribe to receive the most current market information. The year
2010 will see the introduction of live video streaming of the JSE events.
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Data Services

Information dissemination is crucial in keeping investors abreast of the activities on the Stock Market.
Consequently, the JSE ensures that accurate and quality information is made available to its clients through
sources such as Bloomberg, which utilizes a Market Data Feed provided by the JSE. Other products of this data
feed can be seen on cable stations and websites of clients who subscribe to this technology. In 2009, we
expanded this service to include text messaging, which may become a key source of income in future years.

Application Development

During the year, we completed development of a Market Surveillance System for the Regulatory and Market
Oversight Division (RMOD) and the first part of a Registrar System for the JCSD Registrar. Undoubtedly, these
systems will assist in enhancing the efficiency of both business units while allowing them to meet business
objectives.

In 2009, we started development of an online Learning Management System, which will offer online training to
persons in the financial market. The system dubbed The JSE e-Learning Campus will be launched in the
second quarter of 2010 and will be an exciting addition to the JSE's many service offerings.

Risk Management and Compliance

The Company's principal business activities rely heavily on information technology and by nature are subject to
various risks including systems downtime, which may result in operational risk or loss of revenue and
confidence inthe market.

Rigorous policies and Operational procedures are established and approved by the relevant management
personnel and quarterly internal audits are conducted to ensure compliance with the established policies and
international standards. There are also system redundancies, data protection measures, and security
measures in place to ensure a more resilient system, which would have 100% availability during business hours

JSE's IT Governance structure incorporates:
1. Administrative controls effected through the relevant committee (Audit and Finance)

2. Organizational controls effected through segregation of duties, requisite training and adherence to
implemented polices.

These controls are reviewed on a quarterly basis to ensure they provide effective governance and compliance is
maintained.

Business Continuity
As part of its Business Continuity strategy, the JSE continues to ensure that its hotsite remains current in order to

provide redundancy for its core systems (Trading, Clearing and Settlement) and other supporting systems.

In addition to the system redundancies in place, the JSE's business recovery plan is continually updated to
ensure that the business is able to recover from disasters and other disruptions in the shortest possible time.
The plan outlines the response to be undertaken and indicates the minimum resources required to ensure the
continuity of key business units in the event of disruptions.

Focus for 2010

In 2010, we will be implementing a new server infrastructure focused on enhancing system stability and
ensuring that we set the stage for further information technology upgrades needed to meet the business
objectives for the future.

We will also continue our thrust to implement solutions that are geared towards allowing the JSE and its

subsidiaries to take advantage of market opportunities, which will increase revenue and improve customer
service.

(Continued)
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HUMAN RESOURCES 2009
Despite the financial challenges affecting the Exchange during the year, the JSE team-members demonstrated their resilience
and commitment by continuing to make sterling contributions to the achievement of our strategic objectives.

While there were budgetary constraints, the JSE in its mandate to effectively equip staff to deliver excellent service, continues
to contribute to staff development through training in areas such as Operational Risk Management, IFRS, Junior Market,
Mentoring for Small and Medium Size Business and internal cross training. Our ancillary and support staff is now computer
literate, as they successfully participated in in-house computer training. The JSE continues to support staff education
achievement through education grants and education loan facilities. The year 2009 saw one staff member acquiring her
Bachelors Degree and three staff members acquiring their Masters Degrees.

In continuing our quest to have a motivated workforce, the Employee Recognition Award was re-introduced in 2009. The
objective of this award is to recognize consistently superior performance of JSE's employees and especially those who go
beyond the call of duty for the smooth and effective operation of the Exchange. This award is intended to act as a vehicle to
access and reward distinction and at the same time, encourage and motivate others to strive towards high standards at the
workplace.

Good health of staff members is of great importance to the JSE. Consequently, the JSE collaborated with the Heart
Foundation to conduct at the Exchange, critical tests for our employees.

The year 2009 was challenging, but we understand that staffs members need to unwind and through the innovation and
creativity of the JSE's family, our car park was transformed on December 17, 2009 for a memorable occasion dubbed “Lyme in
diPark”. This saw staff members and their families coming together and having fun.

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBLITY

The challenges we faced during the year did not deter us from making a difference in the lives of others through donations and
corporate social activities. The year 2009 saw the Jamaica Stock Exchange celebrating its 40" Anniversary and one of the
activities to mark this very special occasion was the “Musical Evening of Excellence” where icons in the musical/entertainment
field were honoured for their sterling contributions to the development of Jamaica's music and culture. Proceeds from this
event were donated to the Good Samaritan Lodge.

We also continued to maintain close association with our community by making donations towards St. Michael's Primary
School Breakfast Feeding Programme and the KSAC's Roadways Reconstruction Programme. We also gave moral and
monetary support to Trevayne Campbell, ateenager who had lost a leg to cancer.

Our commitment to education and development of our youth is maintained through JSE's Scholarships for students of both the
University of the West Indies and University of Technology. We also continue to provide work experience programmes for
student from UWI, UTECH, EXED and other institutions of learning. We are also committed to United Way and other charitable
organizations.

FORECAST-2010

We are continuing to build on the gains achieved in 2009. Major decisions taken by the Government in early 2010 such as the
Jamaica Debt Exchange Programme (JDX) will provide a stimulus for the market. It is expected that the Junior Market will
prove an engine for the listing of small, and medium sized companies. There has been tremendous interest from many
potential listed companies. In addition, building market awareness and the advantages that exist even in the face of an
economic downturn for both investors and current and potential listed companies will be the thrust of the Group's activates for
2010. We will seek new ways of providing better service to the market at a lower cost. We will improve on our response time to
our stakeholders.

(Continued)
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The Group pursues several other business initiatives, which include:

<*  An Exchange Traded Fund (ETF) market
«*  New Exchange Indices

o Market Data Messaging Services

X Listing of Foreign/International Companies

«»  The Caribbean Exchange Network

We wish to thank all our listed companies, investors and others, whose continued support and feedback has enable us to
continue our growth path.

Our many successful market education programmes such as the Market Analyst Competition and Best Practice Awards
would not be possible without the dedicated Committee members who volunteer of their expertise and themselves to the
oftentimes challenging and time consuming tasks necessary for ensuring high standards of execution.

We know that employee retention and job satisfaction are essential to our continued future success in product and service
delivery. | wish personally to commend the time, efforts, and enthusiasm displayed by our staff member in the execution of their
duties, often above and beyond the call of duty, throughout the year.

Marlene J. Street fForrest
General Manager, JSE
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n 2009 the Jamaica Stock Exchange's Regulatory & Market Oversight Division

(RMOD) addressed 123 issues in accordance with its market surveillance,

compliance and enforcement responsibilities. This was 43% above the 2008

mark. The RMOD attributes the growth inissues to its redefined and intensified
focus in discharging its market oversight functions. Specific activities that have
contributed to the performance include keener financial statement assessments,
closer monitoring of trading activities and closer scrutiny of market disclosures. The
Division's tools and operations are frequently reviewed, enhanced and
strengthened, and therefore would have contributed to the improved oversight
operations and better performances over earlier years. Forthe calendar year 2009,
95% of the cases were closed and the remainder were carried forward to 2010. In
2009, brought forward cases amounted to 6%. Asummary of the RMOD's oversight
activities in 2009 is presented in the diagram below.

Nature of Infraction 1

Nature of Infraction Number
M arket Infractions 111
Other Compliance Issues 12
Total 123

by

Compliance _—

M arket Infraction Distribution 2

Trends and Other Activities

The RMOD commenced operations on April 1, 2008, and prior to its formation the
Market Operations and Trading Department undertook elements of market
oversight. With the Jamaica Stock Exchange completing its demutualization
process in November 2007 the Company's Board ceded its regulatory
responsibilities to the Regulatory and Market Oversight Committee (RMOC), which
is comprised of only Independent Directors of the JSE's Board. The RMOD, which
is headed by Mr. Wentworth Graham, Chief Regulatory Officer, provides
operational support to the RMOC whose Chairman is Mr. Livingstone Morrison.

Since undertaking market oversight responsibilities there has been a steady climb
in the number of regulatory issues identified and assessed. In 2007 total cases
Mr. Wentworth Graham amounted to 21 and by 2008 it was 86; 2009 ended with 123 cases. The trend of
Chief Regulatory Officer cases s representedin Diagram 3.

(Continued)
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Diagram 3 - Total Number of Regulatory Issues 2007-2009

2009123

08, 86

Number of Cases

—o— Total

2007, 21

2007 2008 2009

Year

Other significant activities within the RMOD in 2009 include:

1. Developing new rules, namely: = Management
Discussion & Analysis, Complaint Management
System Guidelines, the Regulatory and Market
Oversight Committee and Disciplinary Proceedings.
Creating a Logo and Tagline for the Division,
developing the RMOD's Newsletter and
implementing an Automated Market Surveillance
System for the Exchange;

. Undertaking member-dealers' standard and special

inspections; and streamlining their reporting
requirements to fully satisfy market requirements.

Support and Looking Ahead

The JSE's regulatory advancements would not have been
possible without guidance and support from the Regulatory
and Market Oversight Committee (RMOC). A special note is
necessary for the first RMOC Chairman, Ms. Hilary Philips,
QC, who relinquished her post in June 2009 having been
appointed an Appellate Judge of Jamaica's Appeal Court.
Justice Philips worked tirelessly and with devotion to
establish the framework of the RMOC and RMOD and the
baton has been passed to Chairman Livingstone Morrison,
who is keen on reinforcing the institutional framework of the
JSE's regulatory operations. Ms. Nicole Lambert replaced
Justice Philips as the Bar Association of Jamaica's
representative, and in this capacity also serves as an
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Independent Director of the JSE. The Exchange's
regulatory affairs were also advanced due to support from
entities such as the Companies Office of Jamaica, the
Institute of Chartered Accountants of Jamaica, international
organizations and most importantly the team of officers
within the RMOD, as well as the wider Exchange.

In 2010, the RMOD's area of focus will centre on advancing
its institutional structure by strengthening its operational
capacity and creating stronger association with support
entities both locally and overseas. Additionally, there will be
a concerted drive to advance public awareness of the
RMOC/RMOD's affairs. In closing, it is safe to say that 2010
will have new challenges and by all accounts, the JSE's
regulatory activities will have to continue to resolve them
effectively. In this regard, the RMOD will be guided by the
maxim: “Act, Learn and Refine” as it stays focused in
fulfilling its general purpose of market regulation and
oversight for the Jamaica Stock Exchange.
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orporate governance continues to
receive a high level of attention
worldwide The practice of good
corporate governance is central to the

health and stability of any economy and is the
key to the integrity of corporations, financial
institutions and markets.

It can be concluded that the collapse of major
corporations resulted from their failure to adapt
good corporate governance principles and as a
result of their shortcomings in this area, it led to
aworldwide financial crisis.

In order to restore investors' confidence,
enhance corporate transparency and
accountability, it is important that the best
practices of good corporate governance be
implemented and practiced. The Jamaica Stock
Exchange in its quest to promote good
corporate governance among listed companies
and brokerage houses, has established the
Jamaica Stock Exchange Best Practices
Awards.

The Jamaica Stock Exchange Best Practices
Awards culminated on December 8, 2009 with a
gala banquet at the Jamaica Pegasus Hotel
under the theme “Prosperity and growth for
2010”. The theme inspired the creative use of
fruit trees in the décor for the event a fitting
symbol of growth and prosperity. In addition to
its aesthetic appeal, the trees would support the
national tree planting drive which in turn,
bolsters the country's food security initiatives.

In her welcome remarks Mrs. Marlene Street
Forrest, General Manager of the Jamaica Stock
Exchange told the audience that “the
implementation of Best Practice is about
challenging ourselves, especially when the tides
are rough. It is not about cutting corners when
the challenges present themselves. It is about
principle and not exigency. | see Best Practices
as a culture, as a lived experience that gets
easieras we commit to getting it right”.

As guest speaker on the topic “Quality, Better
quality and Best quality” Associate Professor Dr.
Geraldene Hodelin, challenged all companies to
attain their best. According to Dr. Hodelin “in an

“Providing A Fair, Efficient and
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environment where mediocrity abounds and
where bad policies and practices are being
blamed for some of our current socio-economic
woes, it is refreshing to see demonstrable
evidence of best practices being undertaken by
our local organizations and more importantly,
being recognized and hailed publicly...the three
imperatives that should always be included in
(companies') business mantra are quality,
better quality and best quality every time, no
matter what.

It was then left to the Chairman of the Best
Practices Committee, Professor Neville Ying, to
speak to the 2008 competition and announce
the winners. In his address he stated, “I am
proud to be part of the Best Practices Awards
Committee whose work over the last five years
has enabled this function to grow to become a
calendar event. This is now an event to which
Listed Companies, Brokerages and other
stakeholders look forward to attending, and to
share in the success of team work, hard work
and dedication. This shows that hard work and
dedication is rewarding in the long run”. He then
went on to announce the winners for each
category.

The Best Practices Best Annual Report Award
Committee chaired by Mr. Alvaro Casserly,
encourages public listed companies to produce
comprehensive, more reader-friendly annual
reports and to provide greater insight into
companies' financial affairs, governance
practices and business activities. In the area of
BestAnnual Report, third place went to JUMB
and Sagicor Life Jamaica, the runners up
were Scotia DBG Investments and Scotia
Group Jamaica Limited and the company to
walk away with the winning award in this
category was PanCaribbean Financial
Services Limited.

The Jamaica Stock Exchange Best Practice
Corporate Disclosure and Investor Relations
Award serves to recognize companies that
make timely and accurate reports and
announcements to the JSE. This award also
encourages them to maintain good investor
relations with the wider investing public. This
Committee was chaired by Mr. Christopher
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The Best of The Best Took Centre Stage At
The Jamaica Stock Exchange Best Practices Awards Banquet

Bovell. In third place was Scotia Group
Jamaica Ltd, with runner up National
Commercial Bank. The winner was NCB
Capital Markets Limited.

The Jamaica Stock Exchange Best
Performing Company Award seeks to identify
and recognize outstanding performance by
listed companies that enhance shareholder
value in the areas of return on capital, improved
profitability and direct return on shareholdings.
The Chairman of this Committee was Dr. Noel
Reynolds. In third place was Pulse
Investments Limited, the runner up was
Carreras Ltd and the winner Montego Free
Port.

The Best Practices Investor Relations
(Stockbrokerage) Award Committee,
chaired by Dr. Brian Langrin, recognizes
excellence in the services provided by
stockbrokerages to investors, and was
designed solely for the Brokerage Community.
In third place was JUMB Securities Ltd, with
runner up Pan Caribbean Financial Services
Limited. The winner in this category was
First Global Financial Limited.

The Jamaica Stock Exchange Best Practices
Website Award is divided into two
categories; the Jamaica Stock Exchange
Website Award for Brokerages and the
Jamaica Stock Exchange Best Practices
Award for Listed Companies. This category
was designed to encourage listed companies
and stockbrokerages to raise the quality and
efficiency of the dissemination of information to
the investing public via their website. The
Chairman of this committee was Mr. Errol
Anderson.  The following companies won
awards in the Listed Companies category:
Scotia DBG Investments Limited was third
place, with runner up Guardian Holdings
Limited and the winner was Trinidad Cement
Limited.

In the Brokerages category, in third place was
JMMB Securities Ltd with runner up Scotia
DBG Investments Limited and the winner
NCB Capital Markets Limited.

Continued on next page
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The final category was the PSOJ/JSE Corporate
Governance Award, which recognizes
companies that demonstrate and practice
outstanding corporate governance. In third
place was GraceKennedy Limited; the
runner up was National Commercial Bank
and the winner, Sagicor Life of Jamaica.

The evening climaxed with the presentation of
the prestigious Governor General Award by the
Most Honourable Edward Seaga on behalf of
the Governor General. There was a tie for first
place and the companies that emerged as the
overall winners were Scotia DBG Investments
Limited and PanCaribbean Financial
Services Limited.

Itis anybody's guess who will be the winners
in2010!

Ms. Yvonne Clarke (left),
Group Chief Financial
Officer, National
Commercial Bank Jamaica,
accepts the award for
second place in Corporate
Disclosure & Investor =
Relations from Mrs.
Marlene Street Forrest,
General Manager, JSE.

“Providing A Fair, Efficient and
Transparent Stock Market”

Governor Generals Awards for Excellence: Anya Schnoor, Chief Executive Officer, Scotia
DBG Investments and Donovan Perkins (right), President & CEO, PanCaribbean
Financial Services receive shared award for the Overall Winner. They received the
Governor General's Award for Excellence from Former Prime, Minister The Most Hon.
Edward Seaga.

Mr. Richard Byles, President
& CEO, Sagicor Life
Jamaica and Mrs. Janice
Grant Taffe (centre) accept
PSOJ Corporate Governance
Award from Ms. Greta
Bogues, PSOJ Corporate
Governance Committee
Chairman.
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Best Practices Awards (cont’d)
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Mr. Robert Drummond, President of First Global Financial
Services accepts the first place award for Investor Relations
Stockbrokerage from Ms. Nsombi Jaja, Best Practices
Committee member.

o il
7. Lissant Mitchell (left), Snr. Vice President Treasury &
Capital Markets accepts the award on behalf of Scotia DBG
Investments for joint first runner in the Annual Report category
from Mr. Livingstone Morrison, JSE Board Member.

Miss Shaun Lawson (left), Company Secretary Caribbean
Cement Company Ltd receives the first place award for Website
(Listed Company) on behalf of parent company TCL from Mr.
Alan Lewis, JSE Board Member.
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Miss Julie Thompson-James (left), Corporate Secretary of
Scotia Group Jamaica accepts the second runner award in the
category of Corporate Disclosure & Investor Relations from
Mrs. Marlene Street Forrest, General Manager JSE.

Members of the audience listen attentively to the Keynote
Speaker Dr. Geraldene B. Hodelin.

— e ——— -2

Mr. Christopher Williams, Managing Director of Proven
Investments Ltd, is caught in a frank discussion with the former
Prime Minister of Jamaica, the Most Honourable Edward
Seaga; looking on is Mrs. Marlene Street Forrest, General
Manager of the Jamaica Stock Exchange
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Best Practices Awards (cont’d)

Mpr. Christopher Williams, former Managing Director of NCB Mr. Christopher Brown (left), receives the Ist Runner award for
Capital Markets accepts on behalf of the company first place award  Best Performing Company from, Mr. Curtis Martin (right),
for Website (Stockbrokerage) from the Most Hon Carla Seaga. Chairman JSE.

Members of the Sagicor family enjoy their hard earned awards.
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Simone Hudson of Scotia
DBG Investments, second
quarter winner receives her
cheque from Mr. Neville
Ellis, Senior Marketing
Officer at the JSE.
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Juvenne Yee of Stocks &
Securities Ltd, third quarter
winner of JSE's Market
Research Competition
receives her cheque from
Mr. Robin Levy, General
Manager - JCSD and
Deputy General Manager -
JSE. Mr. Levy also serves
on the JSE Market
Research Commiittee.
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On October 30, 2009 history
was created when Access
Financial Services Ltd was first
compnay to the JSE Junior
Market. The official insertion of
the Access Financial Services
Limited at the Jamaica Stock
Exchange; looking on from left:
Brian Goldson, Chairman of
Access Financial; Don Wehby,
GraceKennedy Chief Operating
Officer; Marlene Street Forrest,
General Manager of the
Jamaica Stock Exchange;
Marcus James, Chief Executive
Officer of Access Financial, Mr.
Wentworth Graham, Chief
Regulatory Officer and Sharon
Harvey Wilson, Finance
Director of Mayberry
Investments Ltd.
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Members of the audience at the JSE's Evening of Musical Excellence are all smiles.
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Members of L'Acadco
giving a very energetic
performance.

Mr. Robin Levy
(right), Deputy
General Manager of
JSE presents
Certificate of Award
to Bob Andy one of
the performers at the
JSE's Musical
Evening of
Excellence.

Posing for the Camera:
(Front Row From Left to
Right)Hon. Edward
Seaga, Mrs. Seaga, Mrs.
Marlene Street Forrest,

| Ms. Anya Schnoor (Back
| row) Mr. Livingstone

| Morrison and Mr.
Franklyn Forrest.
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Top 10 for Jamaica Stock Exchange

“Providing A Fair, Efficient and
Transparent Stock Market”

As at December 31, 2009

Name
Account(s) Joint Holders
DOUGLAS HALSALL

77630703

FIRST JAMAICA INVESTMENTS LIMITED
34280557
14523713

FIRST GLOBAL FIN. SERV. LTD-TRADING A/C
81557264

DEREK DEMERCADO
66757220

WILFORD REID
44078249 Ronton Constantine Schrouder
CHARLES LEIBA

65200723

BERRIST ALFANZO PHILLIPS
58221184 Cherrie Evadney Phillips

VICTORIA MUTUAL BUILDING SOCIETY
46352585

ONIS JOHNSON

91722027 Monica Johnson

LASCELLE LENFORD BROWN

Volume

2,125,615.00
2,125,615.00

1,249,511.00
507.809.00
1,757,320.00

1,408,803.00
1,408,803.00

1,254.,489.00
1,254,489.00

1,249,511.00
1,249,511.00

1,200,000.00
1,200,000.00

1.000.618.00
1,000,618.00

761,747.00
761,747.00

751,725.00
751,725.00

627,278.00
627,278.00

Percentage
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6.44
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Executives Holdings for Jamaica Stock Exchange
As at December 31, 2009

69947956 Paula Ann Sinclair
Name
Account(s) Joint Holders

MARLENE STREET-FORREST
58965921
2100230 Keena Street

ROBIN LEVY
47840275

Volume

8,333.00
20,000.00
28,333.00

25.000.00
25,000.00
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“Providing A Fair, Efficient and
Transparent Stock Market”

Cont'd

Executives Holdings for Jamaica Stock Exchange

Name

Account(s) Joint Holders

SUZETTE MCNAUGHT
8393311 Minette McLeish

DOREEN PARSONS-SMITH
8623243

SUZETTE WHYTE
10195781 Felix Whyte
NEVILLE ELLIS

74045793

JOSEPHINE LEWIS
99209426

Directors Holdings for Jamaica Stock Exchange

Name

Account(s) Joint Holders

RITA HUMPHRIES LEWIN
86083601

EDWIN MCKIE

94165455 Beulah McKie

CHRISTOPHER WILLIAMS
40795769

Michelle M. Williams

As at December 31, 2009

Volume

25,000.00
25,000.00

8.333.00
8,333.00

10.000.00
10,000.00

8.333.00
8,333.00

25,000.00
25,000.00

As at December 31, 2009

Volume

19,978.00
19,978.00

49,846.00
49,846.00

129,491.00
129,491.00
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EXCHANGE Transparent Stock Market”

Cont'd

Ordinary Shareholdings for Jamaica Stock Exchange
As at December 31, 2009

Names Shareholdings
Barita Investments Limited 2,550,000
Capital & Credit Securities Limited 2,550,000
First Global Financial Services Limited 2,550,000
Jamaica Money Market Brokers Limited 2,550,000
M/VL Stockbrokers Limited 2,550,000
Mayberry Investments Limited 2,550,000
NCB Capital Markets Limited 2,550,000
PanCaribbean Financial Services Limited 2,550,000
Scotia DBG Investments Limited 2,550,000
Stocks & Securities Limited 2,550,000

VM Wealth Management Limited 2,550,000
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Deloitte

7 West Avenue

Kingston Gardens

P.O. Box 13 Kingston 4
Jamaica, WI.

Tel: (876) 922 6825-7
Fax: (876) 922 7673
http://www.deloitte.com.jm

428 & 42C Union Street
Montego Bay Jamaica, W.1.
Tel: (876)9524713-4

Fax: (876) 979 0246

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

To the members of

THE JAMAICA STOCK EXCHANGE LIMITED
Report on the financial statements

We have audited the financial statements of The Jamaica Stock Exchange Limited (the Company) and its
subsidiaries (the Group), set out on pages 55 to 108, which comprise the consolidated and the company
statement of financial positions as at December 31, 2009, the consolidated and the company statement of
comprehensive income, statements of changes in equity and cash flows for the year then ended, and a
summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards and the Jamaican Companies Act. This responsibility
includes: designing, implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error;
selecting and consistently applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are
reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditors' Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our
audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with
ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the assessment of
the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, the auditors consider internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of
the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements,

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion.

Cont'd on next page
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Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial positions of the Group and the

Company as at December 31, 2009 and of the Group's and the Company's financial performance and cash
flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

Report on additional requirements of the Jamaican Companies Act

We have obtained all the information and explanations which, to the best of our knowledge and belief, were
necessary for the purposes of our audit.

In our opinion, proper accounting records have been maintained and the financial statements are in agreement
therewith and give the information required by the Jamaican Companies Actin the manner so required.

Delife & Dt
Chartered Accountants

Kingston, Jamaica
February 24, 2010

Carey O. Metz, Audley L. Gordon, Winston G. Robinson, Fagan E. Calvert, Gihan C. deMel. A member firm of
Consultants: T. Sydney Fernando, Donald S. Reynolds. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
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COMSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSTTION AT DECEMEBER 31, 2008

2008 2008
Motes 5000 F000

ASSETS
Non-current assefs
Fropery and equipment 5 592,704 91,065
Intangible assets 3] 11,356 11,706
Invgstments in securities;

Cormpansation Fund &1 350,601 227 444

Other 8.2 298 995 425 BEE
Long-term receivables =] £.818 4156
Post employment benefits 10 41,684 42,648
Tolal nen<currentl assels __Bo1 372 _ B2 605
Current assets
Incame tax recovarable 17,145 -
Trade and other receivables 11 25,188 23278
'mvestments in securities:

Compensation Fund 8.1 183,480 282 690

her 8.2 152,098 125197
Cash and bank deposita 12 20,354 88,860
Tatal current assets 408 271 530,023
Total assots 1,209,643 1332628
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Capifal and Ressrves
Share capital 13 168,500 168,580
Fair value reserve: 14 - { 4,008)
RevanJs resene 15 255,341 272374

423 831 4334G,854

Cantingency resena 16 530,158 477 261
Total equity 984 127 014 217
Non-current liabilities
Lang-term liabilities 17 56,000 B6,000
Deferred tax liabilities 18 31.874 48 404
Tota! non-current liabilities B7.874 115,404
Current liahilities
Accounts payable 19 53,953 2454 278
Borrowings 20 81,964 -
Incorne tax payablle e A8 T3
Total surrent liabilities 157,542 203,007
Total ecquity and liabilities 1209843 1332 828

The notes on Pages 63 to 108 form an integral part of the financial statements.

The financial statements Pages 55 to 108 were approved and authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on
February 24, 2010 and are signed on its behalf by: Cf?

———— o e AT B SR

Director

55



JAMAICA

“Providing A Fair, Efficient and
STOCK Transparent Stock Market”

EXCHANGE

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER. 31, 2003

Income
Cess
Fag incame
Cther oparating income

Expenses
Staff costs
Froperty expenses
Deprecialion and amortisation
Advertising and promotion
Professional lees
Securlies commission fees
Allowances for doubtful debts
Damutualization costs
Oither oparating expenses

(DEFICIT) SURPLUS FROM OPERATICNS

Investment income

Compensation Fund income [nstl)

Finance cost

SURPLUS BEFORE TAXATION

Taxation

NET SURPLUS

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Met loss on revaluation of available-far-sale financial assets

Met re-classification adjusiments related to available-for-sale
financial assets disposed

Olher comprehensive income lor the year, nel of laxes

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(Deficit) surplus dardved from aperatians cistribuiakble

Surplus of Compansation Fund

Earnings per share

2004
MNates Fono

50,210
75,265
21 _33.4685

158,871

A

22 120,122
47015

15,563

25,879

16,469

10,219

{  258)

7,702

243713

{ 84742

23 104 416
24 84,669
25 { 19535
76 B4 ROB
27 {21,790

28 4308

{ 1,134)
{__1.974)
{__3,108)

39,910
{ 17.033)

50,051

43,018

24 (3061,

The notes on Pages 63 to 108 form an integral part of the financial statements.

ANNUAL REPORT 2009

2008
3000

260,273
162,836
_ 47,081

470,270
115,230
43,764
16,977
26,493
168,221
59,174
21710
3,437
10,823

81,047
51,6828
i G013}
10,819

i103,116)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

YEAR EMDED DECEMBER. 31, 20:09

_Sha ra \I-:_:I;e Revenua Contingsncy
Capital Eesenve Heserve Feserve | okl
Mote F000 5000 000 000 000
Balance at January 1, 2008 113.590 {1.102) 373785 442 030 528,303
Dividend declared 5 = (220,000] = (220,000}
Surplus for the year - z 207,703 - 207,703
Qther camprehensive income for the year - {2.9086) - 1117 1,789
Tolal comprehensive income for the year - {2.906] 207 703 1,117 205514
lssue of bonus snares 55000 - (65000 - -
Spprapriatiaon from revenue rasans
to contingency reserve fund 18 - - [ 34.114) 34114 -
Balance at Jandary 1, 2009 168,590 {4.008) 272 374 477 261 014,217
Surplus for the yoar . - 43,018 - 43,018
Other camprehensive incame for the year - 4 008 - i 7TA186) [ 3108}
Tolal comprahensiva income for the vear - 4,005 43,016 [ 7.118) 39,9110
Appropriation from revenue reserve
to cantingancy resenve fund 16 - - (_60.051] 60,051 -
Balance at December 31, 2003 168,580 - 255,34 530,196 254,127

The notes on Pages 63 to 108 form an integral part of the financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2009

Noto 2005 2008
s00n L0H)

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Met surplus 43,018 207703
Adjustrments far;
Depreciation of property, and equipment 10,424 11,774
Amartisation of intangible assots 3,135 5,203
Loss on disposal of proparty, and equipment 3 a3
Gain on disposal of availabla-for-sale investmeants [ 6,363 -
Unrealised forcign exchange gains on investments {3098 (11,818
Post employment benefit charge 5,820 7610
Allwance for doubtful debts I 25H) 2170
Income tax expense 21,7490 103,116
Interest income (155, 246) (129,075}
Interest expense - 39,535 _ 6,013
Cperaling cash Mows before movements in working capilal i 41,236) 202,751
{Increase) decrease in trade and clher receivables [ 2,320) 1,013
Devrease in accounts payable (214,865) [ 2.665)
Past employment benefit contributions 4 BE7] [ 3.312)
Cash (utilized in) generated fram operations 1263,288) 197,767
Income tax paid (103,541) [ 23,301)
Interest paid [ 13.3481) [ 5207
Cash (used in) provided by aparating activities ra|n,220) 169,270
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Acguisitian of imvestments in securities {net)

Compensation Fundg [ BH.845) [ 62,003)

Othar 55,642 (221441}
Acquisition of praperty, and equipment [ 12,078) [ &,1497)
Acquisition of intangible assets {2,789 [ 3,380)
Long-tarm racaivablas [ 1.6B62) [ 401)
Interast recaived 180 038 135 347
Cash provided by (used in) investing activities 1440 311 (155, 165)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Met borrowings 91,5849 [ 4,960
l=sue of preference shares - 66,000
Proceeds from disposal of available-for-sale investments et I tala) -
Cash provided by financing activities 161,844 61,0440
NET {DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS i 79,085) 72,164
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE BEGINMING OF THE YEAR 85 860 26,607
Effect of fareign exchange rate changes 564 By
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE YEAR 12 20,358 Q4 BEO

The notes on Pages 63 to 108 form an integral part of the financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AT DECENEER 31, 2008

2008 2008
Motes S'o0h $'ocd0
ASSETS
Mon-current assets
Properly, and equipment L5} 88,484 84,626
Intangible assets g £,5099 &,086
Izstment in subsidiany 7 58,000 £5,000
Investmerts in ssouriies
Compensation Fund B.- 350,301 227,444
CHher 8.2 234,328 347,053
Long-term receivable g 4,245 2,043
Past employmeant beneflis 10 53,355 34,117
Total non-current assets Fr3.313 FHY 184
Curront assets
Incotmne tax recoverable 11,208 -
Trade and other recaivables 11 14 487 14,708
Imveslimenls in securilies
Compensaticn Fund BA 1493 480 282 680
Other g.2 133,025 8,276
Duc from related party B82,304 4,348
Cash and cash equivalents 12 11.973 B3.926
Total currant aesate __ 426 4R3 _ 463 N54a
Total assels 1196 776 1,210,238
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Sharcholders' Equity
Share capltal 13 168,580 168,530
Fair value reserve 14 - ] £,353)
Revenus roscno 15 __=25% 363 46 208
429,850 362,145
Contingency resersa 16 530,156 477261
Total shareholders’ equity 850,154 _ B39 408
Mon-current liabilities
Long-term Liabilitizs 17 &&,000 &, 00
Defered lax liabiilies 18 28,188 43775
Total non-current lahilifics 04 189 108775
Current |labllities
Accounts payable 19 53 444 239 586
Borrowings 20 91 BEg -
Income teax payable - 30,471
Total eurrent liabilities 145 433 _ 270,057
Total equity and liabilities 1199778 1212238

The notes on Pages 63 to 108 form an integral part of the financial statements.

The financial statements Pages 55 to 108 were approved and authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on

February 24, 2010 and are signed on its behalf by:
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2009

2009 2008
Nates $000 4000
INCOME
Cess 37614 195,205
Fee income 41,531 40,454
Other aperating income 21 121,387 46,881
200,542 282 540
EXPENSES
Staff costs 22 91 066 BE G610
Property expenses 28122 28 547
Depreciation and amortization 10,5601 15,8950
Advertising and promation 26,551 26,300
Frofessional fees 14,113 13,566
Securities commission fee 9,409 53,608
Demulualizalion cosls - 3,437
Allowanue for irrecoverdble debls [ 278 1,784
Other operating expenses 4 632 hZ216
184,116 233073
SURPLUS FROM OPERATIONS 16,426 49 467
Investment incoma 23 a7.062 746239
Compensation fund income (net) 24 54,669 51,825
Finance cost 25 [_5Y9.535] £.013)
SURPLUS BEFORE TAXATION 26 148,522 169,921
Taxatian 27 [ 24.311) [ 56177}
NET SURFLUS 125,211 113,744
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Meat gain arising an revaluation of available-for-sale
financial assots 1,134 § GET}
Mat reclassification adjustmants related to available-for-sale
financial assats [ 3,524 R
Qther comprehensive ingome for the yiear, net af taxes [ 4,483) § [ZlsTl]
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR 120,748 113,077

The notes on Pages 63 to 108 form an integral part of the financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2009

Mite 2009 2008
Foon 00

COPERATING ACTIVITIES
Mat surmplus 125,211 113,744
Adjustments for:
Depreciation of property, and equipment B 220 3676
Amortisation of intangible assets 2,281 4,374
Loss en disposal of property, and equipment - 55
Unrealised forgign exchange gains on investments [ 2160) . 5,578)
Gain an sale of investments in available-for-sale financial assets {8,395 -
FPost employment benefit charge 4, 7&0 5.B20
Allowanca for doubtful debts i 278) 1,764
Income tax expense 24,311 585,177
Interaest income (165,080) (118,083)
Interest exoense 49 538 4,013
Qperating cash flows before movements in working capital 38,395 71,507
(Increase) decrease in trade and other receivables i 53] 3065
Decrease in accounts payable (212,28E) [ 3,287}
Fost employiment benefit contrbutions [ 3,997 [ 2.380)
Cash [used in) generated from operations (177,941) £5 095
Income tax paid [ 79,344) [ 21,240)
Interest paid [ 13,321) [ 5207}
Cash (usad in) provided by aperating activities (270,67E) 42 544
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Met acquisition of investments in securities

Compensation fund { B9.895) { fi2,003)

Other 42,070 (179,827}
Advances to/payments from subsidiary (106,930) 61,1968
Acquisition of property. and equipment { 12,078) i 4883}
Acguisition of intangible assets [ 27853 [ 3.0839)
Long-term receivable 1,408 ‘ 5114)
Interast received 150,861 125,637
Cash used in invasting activities i 162) i_62,042)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Loran finanzing {net) 91,983 [ 4,980}
Proceeds from preference shares - 645,000
Proceeds fram sale of investments in available-for-sale financial assets 49 478 2
Dividends recelved 77,000 -
Cash provided by financing activities 218,467 61,040
MET {(DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ( 52371) 41,547
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE BEEGINNING OF THE YEAR 63,026 22290
Effect of forelgn exchange rate change 418 ag
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE YEAR 13 11,873 63,8926

The notes on Pages 63 to 108 form an integral part of the financial statements.
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NOTES TOQ THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2009
1 GROUP IDENTIFICATION

1.1 The Jamaica Stock Exchange Limited ({the Company) is incorporated in Jameaica as a public limited

liability company. The main activities of the Company are the regulation and operation of a stock
exchange and the development of the stock market in Jamaica. The registered office of the company is
40 Harbour Street, Kingston, Jamaica.

Effective April 1, 2008, the Company was fully demutualized with the formal separation of its regulatory
arm from ils commercial arm.  The new organizational strocture of the company, inclusive of the
Regulalery and Market Owversight Committee, illustrates a clear line of demarcation bebween the
Company’s twir role of regulating participants in a fair and transparent stock market, and oparating an
efficient platform on which that market tradas, which is the commersial arm of the campany.

As part of the demutualization, the Caompany issuad preference shares to the public and these preference
shares ware listed an the Jamaica Stock Exchange affective May 2008, [See alsc MNote 13).

These financial statements are expressed in Jamaican dollars.

1.2 Principal Activities

The Group comprises the Company and its whelly-owned subsidiaries as detailed below:

Subsidiaries Principal Activity
Jamaica Central Securities Depasitory Ta establish and maintairn a Central Securitizs Deposilory
Limited and its subsidiary (CS0) in Jamaica to transfer awnership of securitiss

“by book entry”, including shares, stocks, bonds or
debantures of companies and other eligible securities.

JCE0 Trustee Services Limited The provision of trustae, company managemaent,
(Incorporated July 21, 2008} custodianship and related services.
2 ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED STAMDARDS
2.1 Standards and interpretations affecting presentation and discfosures

The following new and revised standards and interpretations have bean adopted in the current period and
the effects are detailed below. Details of other standards and interpretations adopted in these financial
statements but have had no offect on the amounts reported are sct out in Note 2.2,

Standards affecting presentation and disclosure

» IAS 1 (as revised in 2007) Presentation af Financial Statemerts. The main objective of the
revisian in 1AS 1 was to aggregate information in financial statements on the basis of shared
characteristics. Adoption of |AS 1 affected Group's presentation of owner changes n equity and
of non-pwner changes in equity {comprehensive income). The revision required the presentation
of camprehensive income in one of twa statements and the Group has adopted the one
statement method to present the comprehensive income, Presentation of Group's statement of
changes in equity has also been amended to comply with the revisions. In addition, the revised
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2009

2

ADOPTICHN OF

2.1

22

NEW AND REVISED STANDARDS {Cont'd)

Standards and inferpretafions affeciing presentation and disclosures (Cont'd)

slandard requires presentation of a third statement of financial position (balance sheet) at
January 1, 200B when apalying policy changes retrospectively. However, tha Group has not
presented a third statement as there were no retrospective policy changes that affected the
presentation and disclosures of these financial statements.

. IFRS 7: Financial Instruments — Disclosures.  The amandments to IFRS 7 expandsc the
disclosurs required in respect of fair valug measurements and liguidity risk.  In particular, the
amendment requires the disclosure of fair value measurements by level of a fair walue hisrarchy.
The Group has elected not to provide comparative information for these expanded disclosures in
the current year in accordanee with the transitional reliel offered in the amsndmeants, See Mote
A3.11.

. IFRS &: Operating Secments. IFRS 8 Is a disclosure Standard and has replaced 1AS 14, The
new Standard requires a 'managamant appreach’ undar which segmeant information is presented
on the seame bas's as that used for internal purposes. Adoption of IFRS 8 has not resulted in any
change in the basis an which segment information is presented In comparisan to previous years
and has not resuted in changes in the financial pefomance and positiens reported fo- the
current and prior accounting periods, Therefore the Group has not presented a third statement
af financial position (balance sheet) at Jaruary 1, 2008, (See also MNote 30)

Standards and (nferprefations adopted with no effect on the financial siatements

The follewing new and revised standards and interpretations have also been adopted in these financial
statements.

Their adoption has not had any impact on the amounts reported in these financial statements but may
affect the accounting for future transactions or arrangements.

. A5 23 (Rovised) - Borrowing Costs - The rovision removes the option of either capitalising
bhorrowing costs relating 1o qualilving assels or expensing these borrowing cosls. The revised
standard requires maragement 1o capitalise bomrowing costs atributable o qualifying assets.
Juslifying assets are assets that take a substential time to get ready for their intended use or
sale. The Group currently has no qualifying assets or related harrowing cost.

* 1AS 28 [Revised) lnvestments in Associztes — effective January 1, 2009. The amendrment
addresses Impairment of investmeants in assceciates as it gives clanfication that an imdestment in
an associata is treated as a single asset tor impairmant testing. Theretora, an impairmant loss
recorded by an inveslor aller applying the equity melhod is nol allocaled against any goodwill
included in the equity accounted investment balancs. Such an impairment loss should be
reversed in A subseguent penod to the extent thal the recoverable amoont of the associate
increasas,

a Under the amendmerts (o 1AS 32 (Revised) Rnancial instruments: Presentation — efleclive
January 1, 2009, Puttable insirurtents and Ohifgations Arfsing on Liguidation, certain firancial
instruments that currently maat the definition of a financial liability will be classified as equity
because they represent the residual interest in the net assets of the entity.

. Under the amendmenis o IFRS 2 (Revised) Share-based payment — effaclive Januany 1, 2008,
“Wasiing Condilions and Canceflalions, (he lerms vesling conditions' and “cancelialions’ were
clariiied as Mllows. Yesting condilions are service and performance condilions only. Fealures
ul 8 share-basad payment thal are nol vesling conditions should be included in the grant dale
[air value of the share-oased paymenl. A cancellalion of eguily instrormenls is gecounled (ur as
an aveeleralion of he vesling period.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

YEAR ENDEC DECEMBER 31, 2009

2

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED STANDARDS (Cont'd)

2.2

2.3

Standards and mterpretations adogted with no effect on the fnancial statements (Gont'd]

IERIC 13 Customer Lovally Frograimmmes - Effective Julfy 7 2008, This Interpretation addresses
the accounting by entities that provide their customers with incenlives o buy goods or services
by providing awards {called ‘award cred 5™ as part of a sales fransaction, IFRIC 13 recuiras the
entity that grants the awards 1o account for the sales transaction that gives rise to the award
cradits as a ‘multiple-slement revenue lransaclion’ and to allocate the fair valuz of the
consideration received or receivakle betwsen the award crecits granled and the ather
components of the revenue transaction. This treatment applies irrespective of whether the entity
supplies the awarcs (the discounted goods or services) ar whathar a third party supplies them.
For arrannements falling within s scope, IFRIC 13 explicilly prohibits the altzrmative treatment
af recoqnising the full consideration received as ~evenus. with a separate liahility for the cost of
sLpplving the awards.

IFRIC 15 Agreements for the Construction of Real Estale - effeclive January 1. 2008, The
Inlerpretation  addressss how  enlilies should  delermine whelher an agresment Tor the
construction of real estate is within the scope of 1AS 11 Construction Confractz or 145 95
Revenue and when revenue fram the construction of real estate should be recognised.

IERIC 16 Hedges of a MNel Investment in a Forgign Gperation — Effective Octobar 1, 2008. The
Intarpretaticn provides guidance on the detailed requirements for net investmant hedgng for
certaln hedge accountng deslcnatlons.

IERIC 18 Transfers of Assets from Customers {effective for transfars made on or after 1 July
20H19). Tha Interpretation addressaes the accounting by reciniants for transfers ot property, plant
and equipment o ‘customers' and conclodes thal when e ilem of properly, plaonl and
equipmment transfarred masts tha definition of an asset from the perspective of the recipient, the
recipient should recognise the asset at its fair value on the date of the transter, with the credit
recognised as revenue in accordance wilth 1AS 18 Revenue.

Standards and interpratations in issue not yef sdopted

At the date of authorisation of these financial statemants, the following Standards and Interpretations
were in issue but not yvet effective for the financial period being reported upon:

Effectiva for annual pa-iods

__beginning on or after
A5 1, 7,17, 36,38, ) Amendmants arising from April 2003 Annua
IFR3 3 and & (Revised) ) Improvemeants to IFRS January 1, 2010
A5 24 (Revisad) Related Party Disclosures — Revisad definition of
related parties January 1, 2019
143 27 (Revised) Consolidated and Separate Financlal Statements

IAS 28

- Consequential amendments arising from
amendmenls lo IFRS 3 July 1, 2009
Inwestmenls in Associales
- Consequernlial amendments arising Trom
arrendimznts e IFRS 3 duly 1, 2009
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NOTES TQO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

YEAR EMDEC DECEMEBER 31, 2003

2 ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED STANDARDS (Cont'd)
Z3 Standards and inferprefations in issue nof yot adoplod {Conf'd)

Effect va for annual pariods
beginning on or after

IAS 31 Interests in Joint Wentures - Conssquantial
amendmants arising fom amandments to IFRS 3 July 1, 2008

A5 22 Financial Instruments: Presentation
- Amendments relating to classification of rights issues February 1, 2210

A5 38 (Ravised) Intangible assets — Amendments arsing from April 2008
Annual Improvements tc IFRS July 1, 2003

[AS 30 Financial Instruments: Recognit on and Measurement
- Amandments o clarify Ellgible Hedged Items July 1, 2008
- Amandments for embeadded derivatives whean '
reclassifying financial instruments. June 30, 2002

IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of Intemational Financial Reporting
Standards:
- Amendment re ating to cil and gas assets and
determining whether an arrangement contains a loasc January 1, 2910

IFRS 2 (Rovised) Sharc-based Paymoent:
Ameorndments arising from April 2009 Annual

Improvemsnts to IFRS duly 1, 2008
- Amerndments relating to Group cash-seltled shara-
basad payment transactions January 1, 2210
IFRS 3 [Revised)  Business Combinations - Comprehansive revision on
applying the acquisitinon methnd July 1, 2008

IFRS & [Revised) Mon-current Assets Held for Sale and Discortinued
Operations - Amendment relating lo Plans to sall the

controlling interest in & subsidiany July 1, 2008
IFRS 8 Cperating Segments - Amendments resulting from April

2009 Annual Improvements o IFRSs January 1, 2210
IFRS & Financial Instruments — Classification and Maasuremant January 1, 2013
IFRIC 9 (Revised]  Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives —

Amendrrents arising from April 2009 Annual

Impravemeants to IFRS duly 1, 2003
IFRIC 15 Hedgas of a Met Investment in a Foreign Operation -

Amendrment ta the restriction an the entity that

can hold hedging nstruments Jduly 1, 2009
IFRIC 17 Distributions of Non-cash Assets to Chwners July 1, 2003
IFRIC 19 Extinquishing Financial Liahilities with Egquity July 1, 2010

Except as noted below, the Board of Directors and management antizipate that the adoption of these
standards and interpretations in the future periods at their effective dates will not he relevant to the
financizl statements of the Group in the periods of initial applization
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

YEAR EMDED DECEMBER 31, 2009

2 ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED STANDARDS {Cont'd)

23 Standards and interpretations in fssue nof yet adopted (Cont'd)

" 85 24 [revizsed): Related Party Disclosures Effeciive T January 2007, The amendments to the
standard simplify the disclosure requirements for entities that anre controlled. jointy controlled ar
signiticantly influenced by a governmant {efered o as govermment-related entities] and clarity
e definition of & relaled parly. The slandard is nol expecled o have any signil canl impacl cn
the Group’s financial results and will only have an impact on the disclosures in the financial
statements.

) 1AS 27 [Revised) - Consolidated and Separate Financia! Statement, under the amendments, the
increases or decreases in & parent’s ownership interest that ¢o not result in a loss of control, is
aocnuntad for as aquity fransactinns of the consnlidated entity. Mo gain or Inss is recognised on
such ansaclions and goodwill is nal re-measured. Any dilference belwesn the change in the
ron-cantralling investmeant and the fair value of the consideration paid or received i3 recognised
cirectly in equity and abtribated to the owners of the parent. Whera thera is loss of control of a
subsidiary, any retained non-conbroling investmenl al the dale conbial s losl is re-measuied o
fair valun. Losses of the acquired entitics are allocated to the non-controlling interast oven if thoy
exveed the non-controlling interest's share of equity in the subsidiary. The adoption of the
ravised standard is not expected to have any significant impact on the consclidated financial
statements of the Group.

. The amasndments to (FRS 2 Share-based Fayment — effective January 7, 2010, provide
additional guicance on the accounting for shars-based payment transactions amang aroup
entities. The revised Standard states explicitly that the entity receiving the goocs cr ssrvces will
recogn se the transaction as an equity-settled share-based payment transaction only if, the
awards granted ane its own equity instruments; or t has no obligation to settle the transaction. In
gll other cimumstances. the entity will measure the ransaction a3 a cash-settled share-based
payment. The standard is not expected o0 have any significant impact on the Group's financial
statements.

. {FRS 3 {Rowsed) Busincss Combinations - The revision to IFRS 3 ond the conscquential
amendments to (AS 27 Consolidafed and Separgle Financial Sfaterments. 1AS 28 Investrmerits in
Associates and 1AS 37 Mmterests It Joind Veniures, remove the scope exclusions for business
cambinations invalving twa or morg mutual entities and business combinations in which separate
entities are brought together ko form a reporting entity by contract alone without the cbtaining of
an ownership interast. The standard is nol sxpected to have any significant impact on the
Group's financial statements.

. IERS B Financial nsfrumants - Tha Standard introduces new requiremnents for tha classification
and measurement of financial assets and is effective from January 1, 2003 with early adopticn
permilled. Under the new slardards all recognised linancial assels thal are cuentldy in the
acopn of 1AS 38 will bo moasured at cithar amortisad cost or fair valug, A dabt instrument {o.g.
Isan receivable) that (1) is held within 8 business model whose objective s o eollect the
cantractual cash flows ard (2) has coentractual cash flows that are solely payments of prinzipal
&nd intarest an the principal amount cutstanding generaly must be measured at amortised cost.
All other debl instrumerts must be measured at fair value through proft ar loss (FYTPL). A Tair
value option is availzble (provided that cartain specified conditions are met) 25 an allamative to
zmertised cost measurement. For debt instruments not designated at FVYTPL under the fair value
option, reclassification is required between FVYTPL and amortised cast, or vice wversa, if the
entity' s business model ohjective far its tinancial Assets changes 8o that its previous madel no
longer applies.
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NOQTES TQO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 3, 2009

2 ADDPTION OF NEW AND REVISED STANDARDS (Cont'd)
23 Standards and inferpratations in issue nat yef adopted (Conf'd)

. IFRS 8 Financial instrirments {Contd)

The new reguirements for classification and measurerrent of financial liakilities, derecognition of
fimancial instruments, impairment and hedge accounting are expected to be added to IFRS 2in
2010, A5 a result, IFRS 8 will eventually be a8 complate replacemant for [AS 3% and IFRS 7. An
early adoption of IFRS 9 will require the continued aoplicaion of 13 39 for olher accounting
requirements for financial instruments within its scope that are not covered by IFRS 9 (e.q.
classification and measurerment of financial liabiliies, recognition ard derecognition of financial
assets and financial iabilities, impairment of financial assets, hadae accounting, ete.).

The standard is not ['kely to have a significant impact on the financial results as the group
currently has na significant financial assets or labilities that are measured at fair valus.,

3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOLINTING POLICIES

31 Statement of compliance

The Group's financial statements have been prepared in accordance, and comply with, Irtemational
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and the Jamaican Companies Act.

32 Basis of preparation

The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost basis. except for revaluation of
firancial assets classified as available-for-sale investiments. Historical cost is generally based on the fair
value of the consideration givan in exchange for tha asseats.

The prinzipal accounting palicies are set out below.
33 Basis of consolidation
The corsclidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and the

entities contralled by the Company {ts subsidiaries). Control is achieved where the Campany has the
power to govern the finaneial and operating pelicics of an ontity 20 as to abtain bencfits from its activitics.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income from the effective date of acguisition or up to the effective cate of
disposal a5 appropriate.

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated in full on conselidation.

3.4 Properfy and eqguiprent

All properly and equipment held or uss in the supply of services, o for administralive purposes, are
rocorded at historical cost, lees any subsequant accumulated dopreciation and subscquent accumulatod
Impairment [osses.

Properies in tha course of production are camed at cost, less any recognized ‘mpairment oss.  Cost
includes professional fess capitalized in accordance with the Group's accounting policies. Cepreciation of
lhese assels, an the same basis as olher properly assels, commences when the assels are ready for
thair intended usa,
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES {Cont'd)
24 Property and equipment [Cant’d]

Depreciation is chargad s0 as to writg off the cost of property and eguipment (other than freshold land),
over the estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives, residual values
and depreciation methads are raviewed at each year end, with the effect of any changes in astimate
accounted for on 8 prospective basis.

Fraehald land is not depreciated.

The gain or l0sg arsing on the disposal or retiremant of an item of property and equipmeant is determined
as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset anc is recognised in
tha statement of comprehensive incames.

Ja2 Intangible asseis

Intangible assets acquired are reported =t cost less accumulated amaortization and accumulated
impAaimeant Inssas.

Intangible assets in the course of development are camed at cost less any impairment losses, Cosis
include professional fees capitalized in accordance with the group's accounting policies, Amortisation of
these assals, on the same basis as othar intangible assets, commencas when the assels are ready for
thair intendad use,

Amaortisation on intangible assets is charged on a straightdine basis ovar the astimated lives. Tha
estimatad usaful life and amortisation meathod are reviewed at the and of each annual reparting periad,
with the effect of ary changes in estimate being accountad for on a prospactive basis.

36 Impairment of tangible and intangible assefs

At the end of each reporiing year, the Grovp reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangikle
assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. |
any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in arder to detemming the
extent of the impairment loss (if any} Where it is not possikle to estimate the recoverablz amount of an
individual asset. the Graup estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the
asset belongs. Where a reasonable and consistent basis of alocation can be identified, corporate asses
are also sllocaled 1o individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they are allocaled 1o the smallest
group af cash-genarating units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can ha idantified.

Intangible assets with indsefinite useful lives and intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for
impairment annually and whaenevar thara is an indication that the asset may be impairad.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value kess costs to sell and value in use. In assessing valug in
use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their presant value using a pre-tax discount rate
that reflects currenl market assessments of the time value of marey and the risks specific 1o the asset for
which the estimates of future cash flows have not been zdjustad.

If the recoverable amaount of an asset {or cash-gererating unit) 13 astimated to be less than the carrying

amount, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-genarating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount.
Impairmenl losses are recognised as an 2apense immedialely.
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING FOLICIES |Cont’d)

3.6 Impairment of fangible and infangible assets (Cont'd)

Where an impairment loss subBsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset {cash-gengrating unit)
is incraased to the revised eslimate of its recoverahle amount, but 5o that the increased carrying amount
does not exceed the carryirg amourt that would have been determined had no impaiment loss been
recognised for the asset (cash-generating unith in prior years. A raversal of an impairment 10ss is
recognised as income immaediately.

3.7 Investment in subsidiary

Investment in subsidiary is stated at cost in the financial statemeants of the Campany.

33 Employae benefit cosis

Pansion obligations

The Group operates a cefined 2enefit pension plan. The cost of providing benefits is determined using
the Projected Unit Gredit Methed with actuarial valuations being carred oul at the end of each reporting
year. Actuarial gains and losses that exeesd 10% of the greater of the present value of the group's
defined benelil chigation and Whe fair valus of plan assels al the end of e prior year gare amorlised over
the espected average remaining working lives of the padicipating employees. Past senvice cost is
recegnised immediately to the extent that the benefits are already vested, and otherwise is amorised on
a straight-line kasis over the average period until the amended benefits become vested.

The post employment benefit asset recognised in the statement of financial pesition represents the fair
value of the plan assets, as adjusted for unrecognized actuarial gains and lozses and unrecognised past
service costs, and as= reduced by the prezent value of the defined benefit obligation. Any asset resulting
from thiz calculation is limited to the unrecognised actuarial ioszes and past service cost, plus the present
walue of available refunds and reductions in future contributions to the plar.

3.9 Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of tax currently pavahle and deferred tax.
3.5.1 Current tax
The tax currently payable is based on taxable surplus for the year. Taxable surplus differs from
the net surplus as reported in the statement of comprehensive income because 1 excludes items
af income or expanses thal are laxkable aor deductib' e in other years and it further excludes items

thal are never taxable or deductible., The Group's liablity for current tax is calculated using tax
rales hal have been enacled al lhe end of he reporting perbod,
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOLINTING FOLICIES {Cont'd)

3.9 Taxation {Cont'd)
aaz Delered lax

Deferred tax is recognised on differencas setween the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the firancial statemants and the cormesponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable
surpluses. Deferred tax liahilities are generally recognised for all taxable temparary differences
and deferred tax assets are recognised 1o the extent thal it is probahble that taxable surpluses will
be availakle against which deductible temporary differences can be utilized. Such assets and
liahilities are nat recognised if the lemporary differences arise fram the initial recogniticn of
assels and liabilities in a transaction thal affects neilher the taxable surplus nor the accounting
SUrplLUsS.

The carrying amaount of deforred tax asschs is roviewed at cach year-ond dete and reduced to the
cutent that it is ne longer probable that sufficiont taxable sumplus will be aveilable to allow all or
part of the assst to be racovered.

Dreferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the
period in which the liakility is settled cr the asset realized, kased on tax rates {and tax laws) that
have been enacted by the end of the reporing year, which rates are expected to apply in the
period whan the liability is seftled or the asset is realised. The mesasurement of defermred tax
liabilities and assets reflects the tax cocnsequences that would Tllow fraom the manner in which
the group expects, at the reporing date, o recover or seltlz the canrying amount of its assets and
liahilities,

Deferred tax assels and liabiliies are offsel when lhers is a legally enforceable rghl o sel off
current lax assels against currenl lax liabililies and when lhey relale lo income laxes levied by
lhe same Laxation aulkorily and the Group inlends 0 sellle ils current lax assels and liabililies on
2 nel basis.

183 Curreni and deferred tax for the period

Curren: and deferred tax for the period is charged or credited in the statement of comorehensive
income, except when it relates to items charged or credited directly to equity, in which case the
ceferrad tax is also charged or credited in equity.

Ao Financiaf Instrumenis

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial Asset to one entity and a financial
liabilily Lo or equily Lo arolher enlily.

Afinancial assat is any assat that is:

(al cash
(h ah equty instrument of anathear antity
(ol & contractual right

{7 toreceive cash or anather financial asset from ancther entity; ar
{i} 1o exchange financial assets or fnancial liabilities with another entity under conditions that
are polentially laveurable o lhe Group.
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING FPOLICIES {Cont’d)
310 Financial Insfruments (Coni'd)

A financial liability is any liabilizy that is a contractual obligation:

it 1o deliver cash or ancther financial asset to ancther entity; or
11 o exchange financlal assets o financlal llabilittes with another entity under conditions that are
potentially unfavourable to the Group.

An equity instrument is any confract that evidences a residual intersst in the assets of the Group after
deducting all of its liabilities,

The Group recognises financial assets or financial liabilities on its statement of financial postion only
when the Group becomes a pary to the cantractual provisions of the instrument.

311 Financial assels

Inwostmeonts arc rocognisce and derccogniscd on a trade date whore the purchase or sale of an
imvestment is under a contract whose terms require delivery of the nvestment within the timeframe
establishad by the market concerned, and ara initially measurad at fair value, plus transaction costs,

Financial assets are classified into the followinrg specified categories: ‘held to maturity investments’,
‘available-for-sale’ {AF3) financial assets and 'loans and receivables’. The classification depends on the
nature and purpose of the fnancial assets and ig determined at the time of initial recognition.

11,1 Effective interest method

The efactive interest mathad is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset
and of allocating interest income ower the relevant pericd. The effective interest rate is the rate
that exacthly discounts estimated fulure cash receipts (including all fees on paints paid or
receivad that form an integral part of the effective intarest rate, transaction costs and other
premioms or discounts) through the expected life of the financial asset. or, where appropriate, &
shorter period.

Income is recognised on an effective interest basgis for the debt instruments.

3112 Heldto-maturity nvesiments

Invastments in securties with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity dates that the
Group has the positive intent and ability to hold to maturity are classified as held-te-maturity
investments. Held-to-maturity investments are recorded at amortised cost using the effecfive
interest method less any impairment, with revenue recognised on sn effective yield basis.

+.11.3  AFE financial assels

_isted radeamable notes held by the Group that are fraded in an active market are classified as
being AFS and are stated at fzir value. Fair value is determinged in the manner descibed in Mote
33.11. Gains and losses arising from charges in fair value are recognised directly in equity in
the fair value resene with the exception of ‘mpaimrment |osses, inferest caloulated using the
effective interast method and foreign exchange gains and losses on monetary gssets which are
recoegnised directly in the satement of comprehensive income. Where the investmsant is
dispnsad of or is detarmined to be impaired, the cumulative gain or Inss prew ously recognisad in
Lhe Tair value ressrve is included in surplus or deficil for the period.
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d}

311 Financial assets (Conf'd)

3113 AFS financial assets (Cont'd)

The fair value of AFS monetary assals denominated in a farsign currency is detarmined in that
fareign cumrency and translated at the spot rate at the end of the reporting year. The change n
fair value attributakle to translation differences that result frorm a change in amortised cost of the
asset is meognised in staterrent of comprebensive income, and othar changes are recognised n
eruily.

3114 Loars and receivables

_nars, and other receivables that have fixed or determinakle payments that are not quatad in an
active market sre classifiec as loans and receivables’. Loans and receivables are measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method less any impairmenti. Interest income is
rccogniscd by applying the offective intorest rate, oxcopt for short-form recoivablos when the
recognition of interest would be immaterial.

3115  Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables and other receivablas are classified a5 loans and receivables and is measured
initially at fair values. Interest is not chargad on outsianding balances as they are usually settled
withine a short period during which recognition of interest woule ke immaterial.  Appropriate
allowanees for  estimated  imecoversble amounts are recognised  in the  statement of
comprehensive ncome, when there s objective evidence that the asset s impained.

3116 Related party
& partly is considered to be related if:

. directhy or indirectly. through ene or more intermeciaries, one party is able to exercise
contrel or significant influence over the cther party;

1ii) bolh parties are subject to common control or significant influence from the same
SOUrce,
{ii the party is a member of key management personnel of the group or its parent, that is,

thoze persans having authorty and responsibility for glanning. directing and contralling
the activities of the group, including dirgctars, officers and close membsrs of the
families of these individuals, or

v} the party is a sost-ermployvmeant benefit plan for the benefit of the emaloyess of the otner
party.

Inlra group Uansaclions are recorded al nonmal rales.
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3 SIGHNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

311 Financial assets (Conf'd)

2117 Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets are assessed for indication of impairment at the end of each reparting year.
Financial assels are impaired where there is objeclive evidence Lhal, @5 g resull of one o more
evenls thal ocourred aller he inilial recognilion of the linancial assels, the estimaled lulure cash
Aowrs of the investment have baen impacted.

=ar all financial assets, including redesmabls notes classified as AFS, objective evidence of
impairment could includs;

. Significant fimancial difficulty of the issuer or countsr party; or
. Default or delinguency in interast ar prncipal payments; of
D It becaming probabla that the borrower will enter bankruptey or finansial re-crganization.

=or cartain categorias of financial assal, such as trade receivables, assets that are assessad not
m be impaired individually are subssquently assessed for impzirmant on a collective basis.
Objective evidence of impairment for a porifolio of receivables could include the Group's past
experignce of collecting payments, and increase in the number of delaved payments in the
porfolio past the average credit period of 30 days, as well 25 chservable changes in national or
local economic conditions that correlate with default on receivables.

=or financia assets camied at amorised cost, the amount of the impairment is the difference
betwesn the asset's carning amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows,
discounted at the financial assat's anginal effactive interaest rata,

The camying amount of the financial asset is ~educed by the impairment Ioss directly for all
financial assets with the excedlion of frace receivables, where the carrying amount is reduced
through the use of an allowance account. When a trade receivable is considered uncollectible, it
iz written-oft against the allowance account.  Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously
written-off are credited against the alewance accounl,. Charges in the carnying amount of the
allowance account are recognised n the statement of comprehensive income.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impaimment loss decreases and the decrease can
be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously
recognised impairment loss (5 reversed through the statement of comprehensive income 1o the
extent that the carmying amaunt af the investment at the date the impairment is reversed does not
exceed whal the amerlised cost would have been had e impairment nol been recognised.
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES {Cant'd)

211

312

Financial assets (Cont'd)

3118 De-recognition of financial assets

The Group de-recognizes a financial asset anly when the contractual rights to the cash flows
from the asset expire; or it transfers the financial assets and substantially all the rsks znd
rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.. If the Group aegither transfers nor retains
subistantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continges to control the fransferred
aszset, the Group recognises its retained interest in the asset and an associated liability for
amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retaing substantially all the risks and rewards of
cwnership of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the financial asset
and a/so reccanises a collateralized borrowing far the proceeds received.

Financial lfabilities and equity instruments issued by the Group

3121 ClassfTicaticn as debt or equity

Debt and eqguity instrumeants are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance
with the substance af the contractual arangement,

3122 Eguity instruments

An equity irstrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity
after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issaed by the Group are recorded at the
procesds received, net of direct issue costs,

3123 Einancial liabilities

31231  Financial liakilites of the Group are classified as other financlial liabiities.

Olher fnanuial ligbilities hal include burrowings and accounls pavable are inilially
megsured al [air valoes nel of ansaclion cosls and subsequenlly measured al
amorlised cosl using Lhe elleclive inleresl method, with inleresl expense recognised
on an effective yield basis.

The effective interest method is a method of caculating the amorizsed cost of a
financial liability and of allocating interest expense over the ralevant pericd. The
effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
payments through the expected life of the financ al liakility, or, waere appropriate, A
shorter period.

31232 Accounts pavable

Mo interest is accrued an cutstanding balances as these are usually setlled within a
short period during which any interest charged would be immateral.

31233  De-recognibion of finsncial liabilities

The Group de-recognises linancial habilily when, and only when, Lhe Group's
chbligalions are discharged, cancelled ar they exgpire.
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313

Revenue recognifion

Fevenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received ar receivable and represents
amounts receivable for services provided in the normal course of husiness, ret of consumption taxes,

3131

3132

3133

Incame fram aperatinns

Coss income
Cass income which is based on a percantage of the volume of business done through brokers

on the Exchange and derived from levigs on investars, is accounted for on the accruals basis.

Fee income

Fee ncome of the company, derived from annual listirg fees charged to listad companies is
accounted for on the accruals basis. Fee income of the company also incluces initial listing fees
paid by entities wishing to be listed on the Stock Exchange. These are accounted for as
received.

Fee income of the subsidiaries includes:
- Membership fees

These are annual fees charged to the brokers and institutional investors who participate in
the C30, and are accountsd for on the accrual basis.

- Account maintenance fees

These are monthiy fees chamged to the brokers and institutional investors whe paricipate in
the CZ0, and are accounted for on the acocnaal basis.

- Liser feas

These include charges per transaction for deposits, withdrawals and delivery orders
{trades). ard are azcounted for on the accrual basis,

- Trustes service fee

These include service fees chargec for the provision of frustes. company management,
custodianship and related senvices and are accounted for on the accrual basis.

Other operating incocme

These include ncome elaed o olher services and evenls of the group such as websile
charges, conlerences and semivars, and are acoounted Tor on the acciual Basis.
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3 SIGHIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES {Cont'd)}

313 Revenue recognifion (Conf'd)

3134 nvestmant income

Interast income

Intcrost income is accrucd on a time basis, by referonce te the principal outstanding and at the
cffcctive intocrost rate applicable, which is the rete that cxactly discounts cstimated future cash
recoipts tarough the oxpeeted lifc of the financial asset to that asset's net carrying amount.

314 Compansation fund

J.14.1  Compensation fund receipts

These are contributions by members of the Stock Exchange, based on a percentage of the
valume of business dane by them through the Exchange, far maintaining the Contingency
Reserve Fund, Howewvear, during the year there wera na coentributions By the mamber dealaers as
the Board was of the view that the resernve was adequate for the specific purpose. [See 3.14.2
e o),

3142 Contirgency resenve

Thiz fund is createc out of surpluses for the purpose of providing some protecticn @ the
imvesting public who have suffered pecuniary loss as a result of defalzation or fraudulent misuse
of securities or documents of ttles to securities.  Provisions in respect of the fund are in
accordance with Sections 27 to 35 of The Securities Act. The Board has decided to transfer
each year frem income to the fund an amount equivalent 1o the total of compensation fund
receipts (Note 3.14.1 abowe] and compensation fund investmeant income net of the chargs for
incums lax relatec o such receipls and irvestmenl ncoeme, The amount of the Tand (s ivesled
as detailed in Mate &.1,

315 Segment reporting

The Group has adopted IFRS 8 Dperating Segments with effect from January 1, 2009, [FRS 8 requires
operaling segments o be identlfied on the basis of internal reports about components of the Group that
are regularly reviewed by the chief cperating decision maker in order to allocate resources o the
segments and to assess their performance.  In contrast, the predecessor Standard (A5 14 Segment
Reporting) required an enlily 1o idertily lwo sels of segmens (business and geographical), using a risks
and returns approach, with the entity's "system of intemnal financial reporting to key management
personnel’ saning only as the statting paint for the identification of such sagment,

The actwities of the Group are organized into the following primary segments:

3} Exchance cparsticns
e} Depository

@) Investments - Compensation Fund
d} Investmants - Othar
(el Other

The adoplion of IFRS 8, has not resulled in any changes 1o how segmenl are idenbified within e Group.
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3

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cant'd)
316 Forefgn cirrencles

The financial statements are presented in Jamaican dollars, the currency of the primary economic
envircnment in which the Group operates (its functional currency)

In preparing the financial statements of the Group, fransactions in currencies other than the Group's
functicnal currency, the Jamaican dollar, are recorded at the rates of exchange prevailing on the dates of
the transactions. At the end of each reporting year, monetary items denaminated in foreign currencies
are re-translated at the rates prevailing on the statement of financial position date. Mon-monetany items
that a~e measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not re-translated.

Exchange differences arising on lhe sellament el monelary ilems are ncluded in the slelementl ol
comprehensive incoma.

317 Dividends

Oividend distribution to the company’s shareholdzrs is recognised as a liability in the financial statemenis
in the period in which the dividends are approved by the compary's shareholders.

318 Borrowing cosis

Borrowing costs arc recognized in the statoment of comprehensive income in the period in which they arc
incured.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group's accounting policies, which are described in Note 3, manegement 15 reguired to
make judgiments, estimates and assumptions ahout the carrying amaounte of assets and liabilities thar are nat
readily apparent from cther sources.  The estimztes and assovisted assumplions are based on historical
experience and other factors thal are considerad to be relevanl. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an cngeing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the perod in which the estimatz is revised if the revision affects anly that periad. or in the period
of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future perinds.
4.1 Critical judgments in applying accounting policies
The fallowing is a crtical judgment, apart from those invalving estimations (see 4.2 helow) that the
managemant has made in the process of applying the accounting policies and that have the most
signficant effect on the amounts recogrised ir the financial statements.

4.1.1 Held-to-maturity investments

The directors have reviswed the Group's held-to-maturity financial assets in the light ot its capital
maintenance and liquidity requirements ard have confirmed the Group's positive intention and
ability t2 hold these assets to maturty,  The carrying amount of the held-to-maturity financial
assets is 3584 million. Details of these assets are set out in Nots 8.
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4

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Cont'd)

4.2

Key sources of estimation uncertainfy

The following are the key assumptiors conceming the future and other key sources of estimation
uncertainty at the balance sheet date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment o lhe
carrying amount of assets and liahilities within the next financial year.

4.21 Posl emplovment bensdit

As disclosed in MNote 10, the Group operates & defined benefit persion plan, The asset amounts
shown in the statement of financial position of approximately $41.6 millicn for the Sroup and
533.3 million for the company, in respect of the defired benefits plan is subject to estimates in
respect of sericdic costs thal are dependent an future returns on assets. future discount rates,
rates of salary increases and inflation rate in respect of the pension plan.

The estimatad retum on pension assets assumption is determinad by considering long-term
historical returns, asset alocation and future estimates of long-lerm investment retums.  The
Group estimates the apprapriate discount rate annpally which rate is used to determing the
present value of estimaled cash outflows expected to be reguired to settle post employment
benefit ohligations. Actuaries are contracted in this regard.

To determine the appropriate discount rate in the absence of high gquality corporste bonds, the
interest rates cn govemment bonds that have maturities approximating the related pension
liabilities were considerad.

422 Income taxes

Estimates are recuired in determining the provisions for income taxes. There are some
trarsactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax detemmination is uncerain durirg the
ordinary course of business. The Group recoghisas liabilities for possible tax ssues based on
estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters
is differant from the amounts that were ariginally recorded. such differences wil impact the
income Lax and delened lax provisions in the pencd inowhich such delermination is made, [Sees
Moles 18 and 27).
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5 PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT {Cont’d)

The tallowing usaetul lives ara nsad in the calculation of depreciat on of oroparty ane aquipment:

Suilzings = 40 years
Fumiture and fixtunas - 10 years
Office eguipment - 3 years
Compuler hardware - b years
Motor vehicles - 5 years

Mo depreciation is provided on freeheld land.

g INTANGIELE ASSETS
The Group The Company
Carnpuier Cornp.ater
Sellwars Sollware
Compurer Devalopment Compuler Developr ent
Softesare. —Fraject Tatal Software  _ Project Total
5oog 'ooc S000 £000 5000 000
Cosl
January 1, 2008 a5 BRg 4.610 40, 455 24188 B 24 185
Addilians oy 2501 5,500 Y 2.302 3089
Januay 1, 2008 367 7203 43, B7D 24,975 2,02 2TETT
Adddilians 4,801 {2.116) _2.785 - 2,785 2,785
December 31, 2006 41,577 5.0a8r7 46 664 24,975 5.087 30062
Amortisation
January |, 2004 2E,970 - 26 570 16,817 - 16,517
Charge far the year £.203 - 5203 4.374 - 4.574
January 1, 2008 32,173 - 32173 21,191 2 21,181
Charge far [he year 2,135 = 3,135 27 5 2281
December 31, 2009 a5 308 - 35,308 23472 - 23472
Carrying amnaount
December 31, 200 _£.285 5087 11.356 1503 o087 _6.580
December 31, 2003 4,503 7203 11,708 3784 2,302 6.086

Armortisation of the computer softwars is calculates based on an estimatad useful life of 3 - 5 vears.
Amortisation is not calculated on computer software in development,

i INVESTMENT IN SUBSICIARY
Investment in subsidiary i3 as follows:
2009 2008
000 ‘000
Shiares — al cosl 55.000 £5.000
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a INVESTMENTS IN SECURITIES
2.1 Compensation Fund
The Growp and The Company

009 2008
000 3000

Held-lo-maturity — Al amorlized cosl

Govarrrment of Jarmaica Sscoriles

Waridbke Rales Local Regislerad Stocks: 12.5% - 18.5875%

(200812 5% - 16,5315%} 41815 41 71
Inwestraant Debentoreas: 16%, - 24 5%, (2008: 16.7%.) 82660 a4 214
Investrwenl Bonds: 17 50%, - 21.683% C21048: 14 58% - 18.467%) 224,305 42 800
Bank of Jamaira cerificala of dapasits 17 4% (2008 17% - 18%) F.200 11,365
MWL Wariahle Male - 21.10% A1.005 i
Forgign Curisnoy Invesiinen's
Sovernmen! of Bzlize guarantesd morlgage noles

{naminal valua LUE$a8,201) d. 4585 2
Fired Rate LS Global Bonds — 10625% (nominal walue LES3G0,000) a0.621 a0
USH 8% Global Bond  (nomingl vaies LS5185,000) 13,460 1210
G0 Fiked Rate USH Index Band 71.5% (nominal value USE144,0000 13068 11 638

444 574 227 460
Svenlalle-lor-sals — AL lan valus
Inwestraent o Uil Tross 12166 45 153
Laans and recavables — Al amorlized eosl
Repurchase agreamaents — 153% - 21% (2008 12.85% - 15.65%] 10717 107 171
Repurchase agreamaents (naminal value US5735,179 4% - 6%)
[2008: nominal value WSS 466, 4.05% - 6.5%) 435 60% Giz
24.32E 107 783
Cash and Qihers
Zash and cash equivalents 37.35E 125 454
Dther receivables 2055 6211
Payables { T200 4907
SE1E 128758
Sdd,281 10 134
Less: Curent portion (193,480 [282 690
S00.8601 227 444
The micveermanl for e yaan i evai abba-lor-sala ves mmanls
i5 az folows:
2pening balance 43132 43457
Inerease in fair valus - 1676
Disposal of unils {E2.067) -
Closlng balance 12 166 45 133
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& INVESTMENTS IN SECURITIES {Cont'd)
3.2 {a) Othar
The Sroup The Company

2009 2008 2009 2008
£:000 000 S000 +000

Held-to-maturty — at amortised cost

Fovernment of Samaice Secunfies

Varigble Rates Local Registered Stocks: 18.975%

{Z008: 15 8915%) 33,431 31,279 3343 33279
Invastmant Debenturas: 16.70% (2008 15.50%) T8E 12,542 - 11,756
MW Variable Naole 21.17% 2,067 - 2067 -
Bank of Jamaica CD 17, 14% {2008,15.30%) - a6,53% - 23,636

Govemment of Jamaica
frmvestmen! Bonos JE17.335% - 22.58%
(2008; 74.871% - 20.76%) 233,038 238,253 208,781 210,746
Foreigr Currency invesiments
GOJ 10.625% USE Index Bond

{nominal value US$410,000) 35,563 35,591 35 369 35801
Government of Belize guarantesd martgage

notes {nominal value US$49,201- 4.25%) 4,453 2,701 4,459 2,701
USE Global Bond {nominal value USH200,000) 17,485 15,519 ~ -
GOJ Fixed rate 7.25% (nomiral valug US5513,000) 47 417 42,456 19,961 17,857
Global Bond B.0% (ncminal value USHE0C,000) 52,454 46,573 32,454 45,578
Fixad rate USH Indexed Bond - AIC Batbados 9%

{nominal value US$100,000) 4,188 8164 - -

436,194 403 328 257,022 412 645

Auailanle-for-sale — At fair value
Imvastmants in Unit Trusts - 21, 848 - 12,880

Loans and receivanles - at amortised cost
Repurchase agreamants:

12.50% - 18% (2008: 11.55% - 12.5%) 14,804 31,450 10,838 13,637
Repurchase agreemeants

- US352,573 - S.8% - 4,167 = 4. 167

451,088 550,793 367,861 443,329

ce=s: Current portion (152,099) {125,197} {133,028} [_98.278)

208,998 425,596 234,835 347,053

The mavermant for the year in availzble-for-sale
Irvestmants is as follows:

Opening balance 21,548 28,205 12,8480 15,555
Decrease in fair value - v 4.357) - { 2,675
Dizposal of units 1 21 848} - [ 12 880} -

Clusing balance - 21.648 - 12,880

8.2 (b Cernaln investments listed above are held as security for borrowings by Par Caribbean Financial
Services Limited, sea Mota 200
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10

LONG-TERM RECEIVABLES

These represent loans granted to emplovess. The loans are repavable by morthly installments and are for 2
pariad of 5 years., These loans carry an intarast rae of 10% pear annum. The current portion of thesa loans, dus
within twehse months from the year-end amounting to $3,424,907 (2008: 52.438,040) is included in athar
receivatle,

POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS

The Group operates a defined benefit penson plan for its enployees,  This scheme is open t all permansnt
empayees and is administerad by Guarcian Assel Management Limited,  The scheme is funded 2y employes
contributions of 5% of pensionable salary, with an aplion for additional valuntary contributicns of up © 5% of
pensionable salary. The companies in the Group contribute o the plan al rates determined periodically by
independent actuarial valuations {currently 5.6% of pensionable salary) to mest the ohligations of the scheme,
The pension bensfits are determined on a final salary basis at 2% of final pensionahle salary times pensionakle
yaars of senvice,

The mast recent actuarial valuation was carried out at Cecember 31, 2009, by Duggan Consulling Limited, a
qualified actuary. The present value of Lhe defined bensfit obligation and the related current service costs and
past service costs have been measured using the projected urit crecit methaod,

a) Frincipal assumptions used far the pupose of the actuarial valuations wiera as follows:
The Group and the Company
2009 2008
Diseount rate 16.0% 16.0%
Expected return cn plan assets 15.0% 15.0%
Expected rate of salary incraase - 12.0%
Future penslon Increases 0.0 0L.0%
b 41) Amount included in the slatement of financial posiion in respact of the scheme is as (ollows:
The Group The Company
2008 2008 2009 2008
5000 $000 0o 5000
Frezent value of defined aensfit
chligations [ 3E,382) (30,083) {29.000) (24,770
Fair value of plan assels 103,532 i R =1a]t) =Yl Y] b BUh
&7, 170 43,806 3,736 35,125
Past service costs not yet
recognised 272 b4 218 435
Unrecognised actuarial (gains)
Insses [ 4,559 14,089 { 3648 11,001
Agsets nct recognised due to
limitation in paragraph 58
of 145 149 [_21.184) [15,851) (168,951 [12.444)
Mel assel in the statement al
linancial posilion 41,694 42 548 23355 34,117
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10

POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (Cont'd)

{c)

{d}

{e}

Amounts recognised in income in respect of the scheme are as follows:

Currant service cost
Intersst cost

Expected return on plan assets

FPast servics costs
Facoghisad loes!{gain)

Increase in unrecognised assels
Total included in employae banefit

costs

Mctual return on plan assets

“Providing A Fair, Efficient and
Transparent Stock Market”

The Group

2009 2008
£'000 Fooo
1,024 417
5645 2,982

{ 7.A487) (7, a06)
2TE 3,835
) { 4BB)
5.285 g3240
5,302 LE10
=L 487 (Z.E26)

hiowements in the net asset in the current panod were as follows:

Cpening balance
Armount charged 2 income
Contributinns paid

Closing balanca

ANNUAL REPORT 2009

The Compary

2005 2008
000 %000
819 334
4,516 2,386
(5,290) (6,005)
216 3144
440 ( 392)
4.757 6344
4,760 5820
5,990 6,261

Changes on the present value of the defined benefit obligations were as follows;

Opening defined benaft nbligations

Service oost

Interest cost

Nembers’ contributions
Pasl service cost
Benefits paid

&ctuarial gain

Closing defined benesfit abligations

The Croup The Company
2003 2008 2003 2008
5000 5000 20Co S000
42 B48 45,045 34,118 37,557
¢ 5,302) { F.61 {4,760 {5,820)
4 345 3.312 3.887 2.380
41.694 42,6450 .55 24,117
The Sroup The Company
2009 2008 2009 2008
3000 oo Foon Fo0o
20,963 200,005 24770 16,004
1,024 417 818 334
5,645 2,982 4 516 2,386
5,573 4,861 4,477 3,773
S 4,479 H 3,583
. BE2) ¢ h3E) [ 4T3 i 45
{5281 243 {_5.025) i_1.265)
26,362 20963 28,090 24,770
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10 POST EMPLOYMENT BEMEFITS {Cont'd)
Wl Charges in the fair value of plan assets are as follows:
The Group The Campany

2009 2008 2009 2008

§'000 £000 5000 $000
Crpening fair value of plan assels 74,664 70,060 09,625 60,048
Mambars' contributions 5EBT3 4,661 3,082 3,773
Employer's coniributions 4 348 3512 3,897 2,380
Expected relurn on plan assels a8y £ .h0g b, 8490 6,008
Benefils paid ( BE2) (538} { 472} f 45)
Actuanal gaingloss) 11,817 (15,333} 8,454 (12, 266)
Closing fair value of plan assets 103,532 74 869 B2 .B26 50 B95

il The fair value of plan assels is analysed as follows:
The Group The Compary

2009 2008 2002 2008

¥oo $000 5000 $o00
Equity investmeant 22,308 21.046 17,8496 16,837
Governmenl of Jamaica securilies 37465 3T 514 20,972 30,014
Real eslate 20,000 103,010 16,000 6,008
Dlhers 23,759 f 295 18,007 5,036
Fairvalue of plan assat 103,632 7 655 g2 526 59 505

Tha overall expected rate of return of 10% on plan assets is a weighted average of the expacted retumn of tha
varlous categories of plan assets held. The directers' assessment of the expected return 1s based on historical
rands and analysts” pradictions of the markeat far the assats in the nexd twalve months.

The history of axparience adjustments is as follows

The Group
Dafined Benafit Pension Plan

2009 2003 2007 2006 2005

000 Fooo 000 3000 S'000
Fresant value of defined bensfit obligation [ 38,582) (30, 86H) (20, 005] (17 b3y (11,740}
Fair value of plan assets 103 532 T4 BGY 705 DED 70.038 fiad TEZ
Fund surplus a7 AT0 43 80E 55,055 52 508 53,042
Experience adjustrments on plan habilities 6201 [ 1.244) [ 2,908] Y (1,732
Experience adjustments on olan assels ( 11.817) 15,332 G125 i 351 (14,041}
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10 POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (Cont'd)
The Company
Defined Benefit Pension Plan
2009 2008 2007 2006 2005
$o00 S'000 g0 $000 $0on
Present value of deflned bensfit abllgation [28.571) 24770y (15,004} (14,024} [ 9613
Fair value of plan assels 82828 60 B85 62,048 66,021 57,947
Fund surplus G4 255 35125 44 044 42,007 42 434
Experlence adjustments an plan llabilitles 5025 [ 1265y ( 1.732) [ BZd) [ 7 AEy
Experience adjustments an plan assets [ 9.453) 12,256 4277 4,842 17,223
The Croup and the Company expect to make contributions of $4.21 million and 53.10 million respectively (2008:
£3.47 million and £2.58 million respectively) to the defined benefit plan during the next financial year.
The plan assets do not include any of the Groug's own financial instrurments, nor any property occupisd by or
other assets used by the Group.
11 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
__The Group Tha Company
2004 2008 2003 2008
Fo0n 000 Fooo ono
Cess receivabla 8288 2,441 §, 106 1,878
Fees and other recaivables 18,685 22 5465 10,425 15421
26,053 25,087 16,535 17,209
Less: Allowance for doubtful debts — cther
recevables (6,299 { E,555) { 4,083 { 5,241}
20,654 18,532 11,572 12,058
Prepaymeants 4,534 4 744 2 095 £, 7401
22,188 23276 14 467 14,798

The average credit pericd on services is 30 days. Mo interest is charged on the trade and other receivables. The
Group has provided for receivables over 180 days. because historical experience is such that receivables that are

past due beyond 180 days are generally not recoverable.

Included in other receivables however, are debtors with a camying amount of 580,185 for the Group and nil for the
Company (2008: £1.8 million for the Croup and $1.7 million for the Company), which are past due at the reporting
date for whizh the Group has not provided as thers has not been a significant change in credit quality and the

amocunts are still considered recoverable.
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11

TRADE AND OTHER RECENVABLES [Cont'd)

Againg of past due other receivables

hat impaired
The Groug The Campany
2005 2003 2009 2008
S000 000 $000 £o0o
180 — 365 dayvs 261 993 - BZ1
Cwver 1 year = _ 818 o _ G186
Movament in allowance tor doubttul dabts on
othar raceivables
The Group The Company
2005 2008 2008 2008
oo £0C0 000 2000
Baanze at beginning of year 5.555 4,385 5241 3457
Impairment Iosses recognised on
receivables {_Z58) 2170 {_278) 1,784
Baance at end of year 5,294 5,555 4,963 5.241

In determining the recoverability of a receivable, the group considers any change in the credit quality of the
receivablez from the date credit was granfed up to the reporting date. Concentration of credit risk is limited due to
the nature of the customer base. Accerdingly, management believes that there iz no further eredit provision
required in excess of the allowsnce for doubtful debts.

Ageing of impaired other receivakblas

The Group The Company
2004 20028 2008 2008
000 %000 £000 $000
180 + days 6293 85555 4.963 5241
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12 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

For the purpose of the cash flow statement cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and in banks, net of
pank overdraft and investments in moray markat instraments with an eriginal maturty of three months er less from
1he date of acquisitior ard are held to mest cash requirements rather than for investment purposes.

Cash and cash equivalents inchade;

The Sroup The: Campaay
2005 2008 2009 2000
F000 000 Fa S0
Zash on hand and in banks 5,771 Tr.520 4 553 45 640

Maney marke: investnents derominated in

Jamaican dellars at interest rate of 11.55% -

12.25% (2008 11.85% -12.25%) E.7ES 12825 5 000 Q775
Money rnarke: investnent denominated in

foroighn cumeney USH42 835 (2003 USH7S, 906!

atinterast rate 5% - 6% (2008 5.0% -5.9%) 3.8z3 _83.511 _2 385 _&3511
i) 98,860 11a73 03,926
13 SHARE CAPITAL
2009 2008 2009 2008
Mox of shares Mo, of shares §'000 §'000
Autharised:
Lard nary shares - na par valug (see (3; below) GR0,000 GCD 00,000, 000
Preference shares - no gar value {se2 (3] Jelow) 00000 BCE 100000 000
lzsued capital:
Ord nary sheres - no par value 28050 BED 28050000
Freforence shares - no par value 33,000 000 3,000,000
Slaled capital
Al January 1 115,580 113,590
lzsue of ardinary shares (ses (b) Gelow) 43,000 43,000
33,000,000 preference shares at $2.00 sach {see (] below) A6, 000 (1= £1H]

234,590 234,590
Less: Redeemable preference shares classified as
lizbilities as reguired by IFRS (see (a).0c) below)

[Mote 17) [ 65,000 (66,000
At Dacember 31 JE.5590 168 550
) At an extrcordinary general mecting of the sharcholders held April 17, 2008, a resoldtion was approved to recloss fy

Tha seven hundred million (FO0,000,000] ardinary sharas o six huadred million (G00,000,000 aadinary shares and ang
hundred  millien (19,000.000% Class A vatiable redeermable preference shares and that thirty three mitlion
{33, 300,000% of the ons hundred million (100,200,000 varable rate prefarence shares be allotted by way of a public
affar at a price of $2.00 sash.

I+ By crdinary resolution datad Apdl 17, 2008, 27,500,000 ardinary sharas wane issued o its eMsting shareholders pro-
rated to the curent holdings by capitalizing $55.000,000 cut of the retained earnings.
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13 SHARE CAPITAL {Cont'd)
(o) Freference shares
. The preference shares pay a vanable cumulative preferential dividend every three (31 months

based on the higher of Government of Jamaica weighted average Treasury Bill yield (having a
tencr of cetwesn 178 and 184 days) fised at the beginning of every 6 months period and interest
rate paid on open market instruments issued by the Bank of Jamaiza that have 180 days tenor,

. Thesa pratarence shares have no voting rignis,

14 FAIR VALUE RESERVE

The reserve represents tha fair value adjustment relating to available-for-sale investments in securities — other

i(Mote 8.2).
The Group The Company
2009 2008 2009 2008
5000 000 Fa0n oo
Balance al January - (£,008) (1.102) [2.653) 51
Met adjustment ansing an revaliation
al available-lor-sale financial sassels
during the yvear - 11,3587) - 2,675)
Met gain arising trom disposal ot
available-Tor-sale Minancial gssels 6,011 - 3,579 -
Defarred tax adjustmants on
available-tor-sale financial assets 003 1.451 {1.328) (k=N
Dalance at December 31 - (4 008) - 2,653
13 REVENLIE RESERVE
Reflected in the financial statements of the:
2009 2008
2000 F000
Parent company 261,365 186,204
Subsidiarias i 8.027) 75,186
205,341 272,374
16 CONTINGENCY RESERVE
The Group anc the Cormpany
2009 2008
a0g Fona
a)  The transfer from revenue reserve comprises:
Surplus — Compensation fund before taxation £4 554 51.826
Lessa:
Ircome Lax charge [or year al 33:% 29,363 16,101
Deferred tax adjustment [_4.745) 16753
24618 17,774
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16 CONTINGENCY RESERVE (Cont’d)
a' {Conl'd)

The rasarva comprigsas:
The Group and the Company

2009 2008
Foan F'OCo
Investment betore fair value adjustment 545,816 500,294
Fair valua adjiustments i 1535 8.110
Investments in secunties {see Mote 8.1} hdd 281 510,134
Incame tax recoverable {payable) G,384 [ 7,54
Dreferred tax liabilly (_20,479) [_25.224)
230,79 477 267
2009 2008
00 000
B! Balance at lanuary 1 6,003 4,978
Met adjustment related to available-for-sale financial assels 1,700 1676
Cafarred tax on adjustment on revaluation of available-
for-sale investments i GEB) i 550)
Met adjustments related to available-for-sale financial assets
disposed of during the year (12,374} -
Deferred lax adjustments on disposal of available-lor-sale
investments 4,724 R
Balance at December 31 (_1.023) 6,093
17 LONG-TERM LIABILITIES
The Group and tha Comaany
2004 2008
000 00
Preflerence shares (Nole 13) G6.000 6,000
18 DEFERRED TAX
This comprisas:
The Group The Company
2004 2008 2009 2008
oo 000 oo 000
Deferred tax assets 11,740 1,754 g 274 Taz2
Deferred tax liabililies 43,714) 51,158) [37 463} (44, 507)
Met position at December 31 (31.974) (49.404) (26,189 (43.775)
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18 DEFERRED TAX (Cont'd)

[ he movament in the net defarred tax positon was 85 follows:

The Group The Company
2009 2008 2009 2008
wong oon oo 5000
Al January 1 (49,404 [33,380) (43,775} (48,130)
{Charged) Credited to income
for the year (Mole 27 15,875 (16,816] 13,554 4023
{Charged) credited to fair value
reserve for the year [ 2,003) 1,451 [ 1,328) 891
Credlted {charged) to contlngency
rasarve for the year 3.556 [ 553) 3,558 [ 558)
Al Decemnber 31 [31.874) [49,404) (28,159} 13, 773)

The fallowing are the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liahilities recognised by the Group during the yvear,;

Deferred Tax Assets

The Group The Company
Unrealized
Interest Accrued Loss on Acorued Interest
Cavable acation Investments TaxlLoss Total Vacaton Mayable Total
$2300 F00C SRR 000 $000 $'000 5000 000
At Januzry 21, 2308 - B3z 117 18,5970 205 514 - B4
Credited to fair value
reserve for the year - - 530 - SED - - -
{Charged) Craditec to
incarne far the year - 245 e (19770 118.555) 116 - 118
At Janusry 1, 2009 - BFT BT FCH 1,754 F3z - F3z
Chargad ta farvalue
resarye for the year - - B - i BT - - -
{Charged) Craditec to
Incama far the year 8715 181 - 08 10.6E3 173 6,715 B.0d2
At Dacember 31, 2008 8715 L} — & a0h 11,740 Jaiel] 5715 B2rd
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19 ACCOUNTS PAYABLE

The Company

2009 2008
000 000

3444 Z23D.0EE

The Company

The Group
2009 2008
000 $'000
Accruals and olher sayvables 65,553 254 276
20 BORROWINGS
The Group
2009 2008
S000 Fooc
Fan Caribbean Financial Services Limiled
iinteres. rale - 23% - 25.75%) 21,989 b

This relates to a reverse repurchase sgreement pavable on demand.

21 OTHER QPERATING INCOME
The Group
2009 2008
5000 000
Regienal conference 12180 13.255
Dividend receivad from subsidiary - -
Cither 21,285 33,806

234686 472081

22 STAFF COSTS

2003 2002
Foco Eo0o
01,089 e

The Campary

2009 2008
S000 $000
12,180 13,255
77.000 -
32,217 53,626
121,397 48 889

The Company

The Group
2008 2008
$000 000
Salzries and other employees benefits 108,704 100,717
Statutany contrbutions 3116 6,805
Retirement bensfit charge 5302 7,610
120,122 115,230
23 INVESTMENT INCOME
The Group
2009 2008
$oon §000
231 Invasiment incomes includes:
Interest income 45,038 71,461
Forgign exchange gains 15,282 19,546
Loes on disposal of available-for-sale
investments [ E011) -
104,416 81,097

95

2009 2008
5000 $000
82,173 75,597
4.133 5,193
4 760 5,820
91,066 BE.610

The Company

2009 2008
FLo0 000
21,647 61,474
10,294 13,783

i 3.979) -
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23 INVESTMENT INCOME {Cont’d)
The Group The Company
2009 2008 20039 2008
S000 000 000 E000
23.2  Investment income eamead, analysad by
categony of financial asset is as follovws;
Held to maturity ¥6,409 76,952 70,480 €4, 061
Leans and recaivebles 3.751 14,075 3.583 8§77
Available-Tor-cale 24 268 - 13,870 -
104 21,027 a7 of2 746
24 COMPENSATION FUND INCOME {MET)
The Group and the Company
2009 2008
Foon H00n
Income:
Interest income T3443 57,604
Gain on disposal of avaiable-for-sala irvestments 13,878 -
Forgign exchange gains 16,573 13,135
133.885 0,728
Expenses:;
Administrative chargas [_19.226) (18,901
24 669 £1.828
25 FINANCE COST
Tre Group and the Company
2003 2008
LR ] $'oon
Intzrest en preference dividends 13,381 6,073
Interast on shor-term borrowings 26144 -
19 535 £.0°3
26 SURFLUSZ BEFORE TAXATIOM
Surplus before Laxatian is stated after taking into account the followirg:
The Group The Company
2009 2005 2009 2005
SCo0 S000 S'CO0 5000
Incoame:
Interest 05,035 71481 &1.847 £1.474
Expenses:
Directars’ fees 8,506 G888 7137 7109
Audit fees 5,039 4 400 3,200 2800
Depreciation of property, and equipment 10,425 11,774 &.218 9,576
Amortisation of intangible assets 3,135 5,203 2281 4,374
Interest on long-erm liakilities 13,381 5,013 13,381 6,013
Interest on short-tenm borrowings 26,144 - 26,144 -
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27

24

TAXATION

271 Recognised in statement of comprehensive income

{i}

{ii)

The charge for the year represents:

ANNUAL REPORT 2009

The Company

=009 2008
000 FO00
37 HES ED,200
{13.354 i_4.023)
21,311 G177

The Company

2004 2006
Fooo g'000
148,520 169,921
49 840 56,640
KER 1,173

{ 25,647) {  1.638)
(N i) -

The Group
200% 2008
3000 o0
Current tax 37 BbS B 200
Deferred tax (MNote 18) (15875 16916
21,790 103,116
The charge for the year reconciled to the surplus as per the statement of comprehensive income
as follows:
The Group
2003 2008
F000 F'000
Surplus before taxation _G4.608 20619
Tax at the domeastic income
lax rale of 33%% 21,602 103,606
Tax affact of iterns that ara
not deductible in
detemining taxable profi d11 1,173
Tax effact of iterms allowesd
for [ax purposes - { 1.641)
Cther ' 1230 ] 22}
_21.790 103116

24311 8177

At the end of the reporting year, the subsidiares had tax losses sggregating $6.9 million {subject to
agreerment of the Commissioner, Taxpayer Audit and Assessment) which are awailable for set-off

apainst future taxable profits.

A deferred tax ssset has been recognised in respaot of these lossas (Mote

adequate future profits to recover the Asset.

272 Recognised directly in equity

18} as managemeant expects

The Company

The Group
2009 2008
o 00
Fairvalug adjustments 1.554 592

NET SURPLLUS OF THE GROUFP FOR THE YEAR

Reflected in the financial statements of the;

Parant company
Subsidiary

97

0pg 2008
F0o0 000
2,231 332
2009 2008
5000 3000
48,211 113,744
5153) 593,958

4318 207 703



JAMAICA “Providing A Fair, Efficient and

STOCK
EXCHANGE

Transparent Stock Market” ANNUAL REPORT 2009

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2009

24

an

EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic samrings per share is calculatad by dividing the distibutable surplus derved from operations, by the
waighted average number of ardinary shares in issua,

2009 2008
{Deficit) surplus derived from aperations - distribuable (50000 ["7.033) 173,589
Weightaed average number of ordinary shares (sea balow) 28,050 28,050
Basic earmings per share 13061 5614

SEGMENT REFORTING

The Group is organized into four main business segments.

{a)
=1}

i)

(d}

(&)

Exchange operaticns - The aperation and regulation of the Stock Exchangs.

Depository - Services in connaction with transferring and hadirg of securities, shares, stocks, bonds
and debeantures.

[vestmeants — Compensation Fund - Income derived from investing activities of the Compensation
Fund.

Ivestmeants — Other - Income derved from investing activities of the Group with the sxception of (C)
above

Other - Truslee, custcdianship, company management and other activities.

The Group's operations are located salely in Jamaica.
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a0 SEGMENT REPORTING [Cont’d)
I
Investments
Compensation Investments
Exchange csh Fumned Orther Cher Elirminations Eroup
S00G 3000 F000 F000 000 000 $000
External revenue 2145 A0 TS B GES 104416 127,234 {86,203 248 050G
Tatal revenue 72140 A0, THh B GCE 1044165 127,234 86,203 248 005G
Result
Segment result 16,514 113,045} 2<,669 104,418 20 ©oBE2) 104,343
Finance cogt [ 39,536) 011,203} - - - {11,203) [ 29.535]
Prafit before taxation B, 308
Taxation [ 21,790
Profit for the year 43,3
Other information
Capila additions 14,863 - - - 14,863
Depraciatizn and
amartization 10,501 3043 - - - - 132,564
Assets
Sezgment assetz 287634 41,150 ode 221 451,201 3,503 [118,921) 1,205 643
Zonsgidated total
assets L20E 643
Liabilities
Segment liahiliies 230622 74041 - 3,320 { BZ2487) 255 hle
Zonscidated total
lighililies 55.5
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aa SEGMEMNT REPORTING (Cant'd)

2008

Invastmerts
Campanzation Invastments

Exchanga £Eh Funid Othier Mhear Eliminatans Zraup
Fo0n F000 Fa00 FO0 3D 000 F0aa

External revanue 205 86549 108 408 51,826 01, OET 44,205 = 19126
Total revenos 245 859 108 408 51828 01, 0EF 48 205 = 413,125
Hesult
Segment “esult 44,2096 125,119 51,828 01,057 14 552 - 318,832
Finance cnst . BO1E)
Profil befare taxation 210,518
Tazatian [ 103, 176)
Profit for the year _ 207703
Qther infarmation
Capital add tions 7977 1,600 - - - - 0577
Depreciation and

amartisation 13,950 3,027 - - - - 16,977
Azzelz
Segment asseis 265775 o4 008 510,134 550,753 2,130 (60,2125 1,332 628
Zonsolidated total

3ssels 1,332,628
Liabilities
Segment lighilities 379,832 41,256 - - 1,804 [ <581 415.411
Consolidated total liabilities _418411
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31 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS/BEALANCES

31 During the year the Groug and the company had the following transactions with related party in the
normal course of business.

The Group The Company
2009 2008 2009 2008
5000 3000 +00g 000
Par Caribbean Financial Senqces Limited
Interest expanses 26,144 - 26,144 -
Garmowings 132,000 - 132,000 =
Jamaica Central Securities Limitad
Interest income 17,203 - 11,203 -

31.2 Compensation of key managament personnegl

The remuneration of directors and other mambers of key management during the vear was as follows:

The Sroup __The Ccmpany
2009 2008 2009 2008
000 3000 3000 F000
Shorl-term benefits 30,591 38,488 19,050 26,800
Post employment henafits 1,662 1,631 aRY L]

2255 40018 Z003F 0 27626

313 Loans o relaled parlies

The Sroup The Company
2009 2003 2009 2008
000 Faao o000 Fo00
Loans o key management parsonnal 2,550 2,700 1,685 1.667

32 COMMITMENTS
Capilal commitments

Capital commitmerts as at December 31, 2002, amounted 1o 345.6 millicn and weare in relation to computer
hardware (2008 $1.9 million in relocation to computer software applications).

a3 FINAMCIAL INSTRUMENTS
331 Capifal risk imaragement
The cspital structure of the Group consists of equity attribulatsle to the shareholders of the parent

COMmpAnyY comprsing issued capital, including preference capital, resanses, retained earnings and cash
and cash equivalents.
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a3 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont'd)

331

33.2

334

335

Capital risk matragernent (Cont'd}

The Group's objectives when managing its capital structure, which is a brogder concept than the egquity
on the face af the statement of financial position are:

i} To safeguard the Group's ability to continus as a going concemn so that it car continue to
provide returng far stockholders and benefits fer other stakehalders; and

i) Maintain & strong capital base to support the business development,

The Group's overall strategy remains unchanged from 2008,

Significant accouniing policies

Details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted, including the criteria for recognition,
the basis of maasurement and the basis on which income and expenses are reconnised, in respect of
each class of financial asset. financial liability and equity instruments are disclosed in Note 3 to the
firancial statements.

Categories of financial insirumenis

_ TheGroup  __ The Company
20048 2008 2009 2008
wonn 0 $onn Fonn
Financial assely
Held-to-maturity investmeants 64,014 720,788 801,698 840,705
Ayailable-for-sale financial assets 12,166 56,581 12,166 58,013
Loans and receivables (ineluding
cash and cash eguivalents) 135,923 384,710 185,447 334,772
1.033 105 1162 475 999,309 1.082 280
Financial liabilitias
Amuorlised cosl 213111 420,276 211,433 A05, 586

Finanefaf Hsk management objeciives

The Group's Investment Committee is responsible for recommending to the Board of Directors, through
tha Audit and Finance Committes, uniform investment decisians, policies and proceduras, The specific
dutigs of the [mvestment Managemenl CGommittee are to receive and review data an current market
conditions and economic autlook; review vadous fsk reports submitted including fair valve, interest rate
risk, liquidity riglk, cumency risk, and markat risk; review monthly report on portfalios and sstablish
quarterly investment portfolio strategies. The Sroup does not enter inte or trade financial investments,
including derivative financial instruments for speculative purposes,

Market rick

The Group's investment activities expose t primarly to the financial risks of changes in foreign currancy
exchange rates, irterest rates and price movements (see Motes 33.6, 32.7 and 33.8). The Group
manages its nsk through exensive research and monitors the risk exposures on he local ard

international markets,

Thesre hias been i change W the maneer inowhich e Group manages and measures Lhis risk.
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33 FINAMCIAL INSTRUMENTS {Cont'd)
33.6 Forafgn currency risk management
The Group underzkes certain investment transactions denominated it currencies other than the
Jamaican dollar.  Exchange rate exposures are managed within approved policy parameters,
maintaining a manageakle balancz in tha types af investments.

The folowing balances held in United States dollars are included in these financial staterents:

The Group The Company
2008 2008 2009 2008
000 5000 000 $000
Imvestmant securities 282 9sd 303 093 225 8Lk 204 BUE
Cash and cash eguivalents A 522 1,318 2385 1,318
Nt exposure 285791 204 411 231,185 256,724

33.8.1  Forsign currenoy sensitivity analysis

The CGroup's investment portfolic is exposed to the United States dollar, The Group's
sensitivity to 8 2% increase or 5% decrease in the Jamaican dollar against the United States
dollar is the sensitivity rate used when reparting foreign currency risk internally to the key
managerent personnal and rearesants management’s assessmeant of the reasonably possible
change n foreign exchange rate.

The sensitivity of the 2% (2008: B%) increase or b% (2008 &%) decrease in the Jamaican
dollar on the net United States dollar exposure would e an decrease of profits by JE5.7 million
{2008: J$15.2 million) or an increase of profits by J$14.3 million (2008: J$15.2 million).

The toreign currency sensitivities hawve varied due to the sansitivity rates used and the increase
i Lhe level of investment securliss held in foreign currency.

337 Interest rato risk management

The Group's exposura to interest rates on finarcial assets and financial liakilities are detailed in the
liguidity rizsk management section of this note.

Interest rate sensitivity analvsis

Interest rate =ensitivity have been determined based on the exposure ta interest rates for the Group's
investment in securities at the end of the reporting year a3 these are substantially the interest sensitive
instrument impacting financial results, For floating rate assets, the analvsis assumes the amount of
asset outstanding at year end was outstanding for the whcle year. A 200 basis point increase or 600
basis points decrease is used when reporting interast rate risk internally to key management perscnnel
and reprasents management’s assessmant of the reasonable possible change in interest rates, In 2005
the assumption was 100 basis points increase or decrease.

If market interest rates had been 200 basis points higher or 600 basis poinis lower and all other
variables were hald corstant:
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a3

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont'd)

337

438

338

33.10

Interest rate risk management (Cont'd)

The Group The Company
2008 2008 2002 2008
o0 000 Fono 000
Effect on net surplus increase/decrease
100 basis points - 3,287 - 2,085
Effact on net surplus increase 200 basis points 8,032 - 7413 -
Effect on net surplus decrease 600 basis points 23,787 - 22239 -

The Group's and the Company's sensitivity to interest rates has increased during the currant year as the
Group had a decrease in the numaer of vanable rate financial instraments.
Price fsk management

The Group is exposed to price risks arising from unt trust investments,  Unit trust investments are held
far strateqgic rather than for tracing purposes. The Group does not actively trade these investrents.

Price sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the expasure to unit trust price risks at thea
reporting date. [f unit trust prices had been £1 higherlower and all other variables were haelc constant:

[ hes GSroup | he Compary
2009 2008 2009 2008
000 000 Focoo Fooo
Ellecl an [air valus reserve £ 1,963 : 1,331
Effect an contingency reserne 819 3,530 519 3,530

The Group's and the company's sensitivity @ price has deereased signifizantly as a number of
available-for-sale assets were disposad of during the financial year,

Credit rigk management

Crodit risk rofors to the risk that countorparty will default on its contractual ebligations resulting in
financial loss to the Group. In relaton ta bank accounts and investments securities, the Group, as a
policy, deals with credit worlhy counterpartias, to minimize credit risk exposuras,

Trade receivables consist of broker members of the Group and accordingly mitigaies against credit risk
in refation la such receivables, In the case of ather receivables, angang oredit evaluation is performed
on the financial condilions of those receivables.

I'he carrying amount of financial 2ssets recorded in the financial statements (25 diselosed in Note 333,
which is net of impairment lozsses. represents the group’s maximum exposure 10 credit risk,

Ligeidity risk management

Ultimate responsibility for iquidity riss mznagerment rests with the board of directore, which has built an
appropriate louldity risk management framework for the management of the Group's short, medium and
Ipng-term funding and liquidity management requirements.  The Group manageas liquidity risk by
maintaining adequate reserves, banking facilities, by continuoushy monitering forecasts and actual cash
Mowes and matching the maturily profiles of linancial assels and liabililies,
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a3 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont'd)

3310 Liguidity risk management {Cont'd)

33.10.1 Liguidity and interest rate tables

The following table details the Group's and the Commpany’s contractual materity for its non-
derivative financial assets and financial liahilities. The tahles below have been drawn up based
on undiscountad contractual maturities of finarcial assets including interest that will he sarmed
on those except where the Group and the Company anticipates that the cash flows will ocour in
a differant period, and in the case of financial liabilities, based on the earliest date on which the
Group and the Company can be required to pay.

The Groug
Weighted
average
affactiva Less
intarest than 1103 3 months 105 Dwvar
rate 1 manth Montis to 1 y=ar Years 5 years Total
Y Snno Foog 000 5000 000 focn
2009
Financial assets
Mon-irterest boaring 18,897 3,331 - - - 22 028
Wariable interest rate
instrumeants 17 47 627 45,772 173924 330,615 134,695 772643
Fixad interest rate
instrurments 15 “ 2,056 - 72505 141,445 274 682 a50, 781
73380 39,110 246 522 h22 060 409 360 1,345 452
Financial liahilities
Mon-irtersst bearing 40,1359 = 4 - - 40,1359
Interest bearing loan 158 144,371 = 2 d 2 119,371
Redesemable
prefersnce shares 17 - 2757 6825 a7 827 - oy 409
147 D65 2757 6825 A7 827 - 256,919
2008
Financial assets
Men-irterest bearing 30,584 44 169 74,753
Varahle interest rate
instrumants 1575 - 134,090 145,300 477 797 7444 T4 631
Fixed interest rate
instruments 14.5 3,053 5,954 21,208 275,878 259,186 BY 7,275
23,847 185213 176,606 854673 266,630 1.516,659
Financial liabilitics
Mon-irterest baaring 253,335 = - . ¥ 253,335
Redeemable
preferenca shares 14.75 - 3,266 8,735 101,675 z 114,315

£33.335 3,265 8,735 101.67% - 367,650
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33 FINANGIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont d)

3310 Liguwidity risk management {Cont’d}

33.10.1 Liquidity and intersst rate tables (Cont'd)

The Company

Waighted
SVErags
effactive Lezs
interest than 1103 3 months 1t & Civer
rate 1 marnth Manths o 1 yedr YeErs S yedrs Total
Ha 000 S000 3000 £'000 $'o00 2000
2008
Financial assets
Man-interest bearing 2,185 - - - - 12,165
Variable interest rate
instrumerts 16.5 47 627 74,614 173,924 306,123 134 6598 T35 986G
Fixed interest rate
instruments 15 8,082 - B2 245 161,603 245 182 477.114
67,574 T4514 236,183 467,726 370,580 1,226,265
Financial liahilities
Man-interest bearing 28,227 - - - - 20,227
Irterest bearing loan 158 178,371 - - - - 119,371
Redeemable
preference shares 17 - 757 __§8325 878y - 27,409
144,598 2,757 G,825 87,827 5 242 007
20085
Financial assets
Man-interest hearing 23,748 12,880 - = z 36,628
Variable interest rate
instruments 16.5 - 134,080 176,562 442 652 - G95,311
Fixad intersst rata
instruments 15 - i, 854 53428 330,379 230,400 530,161
23,748 153,024 131,897 782,031 230400 1322100
Financial liahilities
Maon-interest bearing 239,587 - - - - 238,387
Redeemable
praference shares 14.75 - 2,285 9,735 101,675 - 114,675

230,687 4,265 4735 101,675 g 354 262

The disclosures provides in this note are based on the investment portiaio as at December 31, 20043,
As described in Mote 34, the company participated in tha Jamaica Oabt Exchanga (OX) which may
resullin significant changes o the company’s investmenl porlfolio and the Tulure cash Mo,
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33 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont'd)

A3.11  Falr vafue of Fnancial instrumenis

Fair walus is the amount for which an asset could e exchanged, or a lighility seltled between
knocwledgeable, willing parties in an am's length lransaction, A market price, where an aclive market
{such as & receonised stock axchange) exists, is the best evidence of the fair valus of a financial
instrument. Where market prices are not available for soms of the financial assets and liabilities of the
group, the fair values in the financial statements have heen presented using warious estimation
lechhigues based on markel conditions existing al balance sheet date.  Generally, judgement is
necessarily renquired in interpreting market data to develop estimates of fair value. Accordingly, the
estimates presented in these financlal statements are net necessarlly indicative of the amounts that the
Group would realise ing currenl markel exchange.

The falowing methads and assumptions have baen used

{i} Financigl assets classified as available-for-sale 2re measured at fair valua by reference to
quoted market prices.

{ii] The fair valuc of variable rate financial instrumenls is assumcd to approximate thoir carrying

amaunt.

il The fair value of fixed rate financial instruments i=s estimated using present value or other
aestimation techniques based on market conditions on similar instruments at balance sheet
data.

Hi The carrying amount of liguid assets and other asssts maturing within ane year is assumed 1o

approximate their fair value. This assumption is applied tc liquid assets and the other short-
temm elerrents of all olher financial assets and liabilities.

Except as detailed in the following tables, management considers that the carrying amounts of firanzial
assets and financial liabilities in the financial statements approximate their fair values,

Fair value of financial instruments carried al amonised costin the statement of financial position.

The Group
2009 2004
Carrying Valug Fair Valug Carrving Yalug Fair Valug
000 000 £000 $000

Financial assets
Compensation fund

Held-to-maturity 444 T 457,240 227 A8l 204,222
Cthar

Held-lo-mnaturily 440,100 449,912 493,324 454 295
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33 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont'd)
3311 Falrvalue of Anancfal instriments {Cont'd}

The Company

2009 2008
Carrying Yalue Fair Values Carnying Value Fair Value
S5'000 5000 S000 $'000

Financial assets
Compensaticn fund

Helg-to-maturity 444,780 457,230 227 460 204,222
ther

Held-to-malurity 367,824 352,365 412 545 380 452

Fair value measurament recognized in the statement of financial pesitior in respect of investmeants in
unit trusts {classifiec as available-for-zale) is derived from quoted prices in the market for those units.

34 SUBSEQUENT EVENT

On January 14, 20140 the Govemment of Jamaica (GOJ) nvited holders o cerain domestic debt instruments to
voluntarily particioate in the Jamaica Debt Exchange {JDX} programme. The stated objectives of the programme
are to reduce the cost, as well as lengthen the maturity prafile. of GOJ's domestic debt porifalie. Under the JDX,
G0 inlands to retire cattain axisting debt instruments ("0ld MNotes™) and issue naw debt instruments [“Mew
Soles”) with ninereased malurily profile anc 4l rales ol interss lower han the rales of inleresl an Uie 2xisling
dabt instrumeants,

Al Decamber 31, 2004, the Group's and the company’s investmant porttolio included investment in G0J debt
nslrumenls with a nomina! value of $609.9 million {including US$862,400) Tar the Group and $564.4 million
iincluding USS8362,400) for the company. Those arc staled at amortized cost of $640.2 million for the Sroup and
55935 million for the company in the slatement of linancial posilion.

The company has acceptec the invitaticn to participate in the exchange and awaits the conclusion of the JOX oy
the Governmert of Jamaica. Upon completion, the company's portfolic of Old MNotes will be replaced with a
portfolio of Mew Motes on a "par far par® basis such that the principal amounts that would have peen received at
maturity provided by the Qld Motes are equal to the comesponding amounts to be received fram the Maw Notas.
The gain or loss on disposal of the Old Motes, which will also include any unamortized discounts or premiums as
at tha sattlamant date, will 2e recegnizad in the statement of comprehensive income for yaar anding Dacembar
31, 2010, Concerning the defined benefit pension plan for employees of the Group anc the Company, the JO%
may also have an impact on definsd benedil obligation of the Group,
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Remote Observer

The Real Time Market Watch or the Remote Observer is another exciting feature of the Jamaica Stock Exchange which allows
investors to view real time trading activities at their convenience. This product has endless possibilities for those who take the
stock market seriously, and abounds with the following features:

» It allows the client to be on the cutting edge of technology.

Clients will be able to monitor daily activities of the market in real time giving them a distinct competitive
advantage.

Clients will have ready access to market information and will therefore be able to make informed decisions.
Clients watching the activities can negotiate sale and purchase fees of securities, thus lowering their transaction
cost.

Clients can know if their brokers are executing their requests.

YV V

A\

This product is proven to provide significant benefits to the client and is a viable source of revenue for the Stock Exchange,
especially when the market is bullish.

The remote Observer is the only product on the market that offers real time information on trading on the Jamaican Stock
Market and attracts customers both locally and internationally.

This product is designed to meet the needs of:

i. Companies involved in pension funds management: (The contact will be established with CEOs, Managing
Directors and the Pension Funds Managers).
ii. Companies thatinvestin securities.
iii. Middle-to-upper class professionals who invest in the Stock Market as the means to create a solid retirement plan.
iv. CEOsand MDs especially those of listed companies who have an avid interest in the stock market.
v. CEO'sand MDs of potential listed companies
vi. Broker members

Banner Ad

The Stock Exchange's revamped website www.jamstockex.com has a totally new look and feel and has become an exciting
vehicle for companies to keep in touch with their upwardly mobile clientele.

The Jamaica Stock Exchange's website receives over 110,000 hits per day from many local and international visitors who use
our site repeatedly to check the daily trade sheets, as well as other information. This product offers an excellent opportunity for
companies and institutions to connect with their target market. It is a well-known fact that advertising works best when
targeted to a specific audience. Hence the JSE's Banner Ad is that medium of choice which provides product exposure to
existing and potential investors.

Online Statements

Twice yearly, the JCSD sends out statements showing client's transactions and trading activity of their invested securities.
In response to the demands of clients to supply more current and ready information on their accounts, the JCSD is now
pleased to offer you the JCSD online statement. This facility will give clients access to their statements whenever they

want it!
What will the On-line Statement Show?

e Account holders who access this statement on-line will be able to see transactions conducted from December 31,
2004 onwards.

*  Whether or not clients choose to print their statement or view it on-line, the information will appear in the same
format.

* Clients will be able to stipulate what transaction they wish to view or print.

e Clients will see a quick look-up of their holdings as at the current date.

e Clients will have access to all their active accounts in the JCSD.
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Tickers
The JSE produces two types of tickers namely the “Desk Top Ticker” and the “Website Ticker”.

Desk Top Ticker

The Desk Top ticker is appropriate for clients working at a remote station and need to access summarized market information.
“The Desk Top Ticker” is a summary of trading taking place on the market compiled as a crawl across a computer screen. It
gives the distinct advantage of allowing the client to view the information, without disruption of work.

This is areliable way for clients to keep in touch with the performance of the market and most importantly, the performance of
their stock on a timely basis.

Website Ticker

This ticker is appealing to companies, web administrators and media houses. It is the ideal product to attract both local and
international investors to the client's site. Investors are always seeking information on the performance of the market and once
they are aware of a particular site which supplies this information they will make frequent visits to that site. A “Website
Ticker” site will also attract visits from new customers seeking market report information.

Publications

JSE's e-Learning Campus

JSE's e-Learning Campus is a web based e-learning system that will allow students to attend courses online. Lessons will be
interactive with video and audio clips of lecturers. Students will be able to read content, view or print e-books, do tests and
other exercises relating to a specific course. Additionally, students will be able to bookmark position in each course and
resume the course at anytime. The system will track usage, track scores from tests, issue certificates, and allow students to
interact with lecturers. Students will also geta chance to meet with lecturers and tutors face-to-face.

Our e-Campus will commence by offering the JSE's Post-Graduate Diploma in Financial Securities Management. This
programme is a continuing professional education course for participants operating in the capital markets, dealing in
investment products and for professionals in the financial services sector.

PocketBook

This annual publication is a compendium of facts, figures, charts and other illustrations showing the performance of the
Jamaican stock market for the previous year. It contains invaluable research material for potential investors locally and abroad
as well as for financial planners and managers.

The Pocketbook is distributed to our subscribers, both locally and internationally and is posted on the JSE's website which

averages at least 3,357,904 hits per month. This has opened for advertisers, a new window of opportunity to enter the overseas
market and in particular to reach Jamaicans living abroad.

Stock Market Review

This magazine is the perfect advertising vehicle for reaching existing and potential clients who invest in the stock market. The
publication is timely and contains indicators of market performance as well as pertinent news on market development.

The magazine is published quarterly and circulated free of cost to subscribers and other interested clients in Jamaica and
abroad. It also appears on the Jamaica Stock Exchange's website which enjoys thousands of visitors daily.
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Year Book

This annual publication is a sought after collection of information showing the performance of the Jamaican stock market for
the previous year. The distinguishing features of the Year Book are:

v/ A snapshot of the financials of the Listed Companies
v" Comparative figures on companies’ financials
v Comparative figure for market statistics such as Market Capitalization, Volume, Top Ten Companies by Value and

Volumes

This publication is invaluable research material for potential investors locally and abroad as well as for financial planners and
managers.

The Year Book is distributed to our subscribers, both locally and internationally and is posted on the JSE's website which
averages some 3,357,904 hits per month.
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BARITA INVESTMENTS LTD.
15 St. Lucia Way,

Kingston 5

Phone: 926-2681-2 / 926-2686
Fax: 929-8432

e-mail:

SCOTIA DBG INVESTMENTS LTD.

7 Holborn Road,

Kingston 10

Phone: 960-6699 / 968-3365
Fax: 960-3984

e-mail:

JMMB SECURITIES LTD.
11 Knutsford Boulevard,
Kingston 5

Phone: 920-5039 / 920-4720
Fax: 960-8106

e-mail:

FIRST GLOBAL FINANCIAL
SERVICES LTD.

2 St. Lucia Avenue,

Kingston 5

Phone: 926-1275

Fax: 926-1279 / 929-6436
e-mail:

MAYBERRY INVESTMENTS LTD.

1 1% Oxford Road,
Kingston 5

Phone: 929-1908-9

Fax: 929-1501 / 920-2103
e-mail:

PAN CARIBBEAN FINANCIAL
SERVICES LTD.

60 Knutsford Boulevard,
Kingston 5

Phone: 929-5583/4

Fax: 926-0555

e-mail:

M/VL STOCKBROKERS LTD.
2-6 Grenada Crescent,
Kingston 5

Phone: 960-1570 / 926-4319
Fax: 960-1571

e-mail:

NCB CAPITAL MARKETS LTD.
32 Trafalgar Road, 3rd Floor
Kingston 10

Phone: 960-7108 Fax: 960-7649
TOLL FREE: 1-888-4-WEALTH
e-mail:

STOCKS AND SECURITIES LTD.
24-26 Grenada Crescent,
Kingston 5

Phone: 929-3261 / 929-3400

Fax: 929-4825

e-mail:

VICTORIA MUTUAL WEALTH
MANAGEMENT LTD.

52 - 60 Grenada Crescent,
Kingston 5

Phone: 960-5000 - 3
Fax:960-4972

e-mail:

CAPITAL & CREDIT SECURITIES LTD.
18 Trafalgar Road,

Kingston 10

Phone: 946-1770

Fax: 978-8005

e-mail:
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YEAR-END NO.

MARKET OF VOLUME VALUE YEAR-END YEAR-END YEAR-END NO. NO.

CAPITAL LISTED TRADED TRADED JSE ALL JA JSE OF BROKERS
YEAR JA$(000) COMPANIES (000) JAS$(000) INDEX COMPOSITE SELECT TRANS.
1973 203,649 a1 9,450 7,811 78.94 4,525 5
1974 129,656 40 19,400 10,660 61.97 2,679 a
1975 126,472 38 6,930 5,335 66.22 2,104 a
1976 106,426 a3 5,650 2,827 55.72 1,170 a
1977 89,776 43 2,185 1,293 46.99 459 6
1978 93,494 40 13,818 10,093 49.28 583 6
1979 109,600 39 4,833 2,217 59.28 420 5
1980 124,149 41 7,390 5,101 69.83 502 5
1981 225,761 33 4,198 3,332 152.23 799 s
1982 315,964 32 5,542 10,156 211.16 1,375 5
1983 359,199 32 5,185 9,820 240.38 1,566 5
1984 697,729 32 9,744 26,017 461.10 2,117 5
1985 1,456,590 33 37,640 117,146 941.50 3,049 6
1986 3,085,766 36 59,252 374,617 1,499.87 6,691 8
1987 3,468,661 41 71,877 399,971 1,515.09 11,187 8
1988 4,290,291 44 43,522 136,739 1,439.22 6,446 8
1989 6,228,384 a4 95,202 516,456 2,075.85 13,892 8
1990 7,321,285 a4 57,960 230,782 2,539.36 8,691 °
1991 | 22,214,715 44 144,258 1,156,609 7,681.50 24,072 °
1992 | 76,974,281 as 395,606 4,687,337 | 25,745.88 49,791 °
1993 | 41,879,310 a8 567,454 8,346,770 | 13,099.68 55,519 o
1994 | 58,018,064 50 741,754 5,155,463 | 16,676.74 43,144 10
1995 | 50,755,753 51 3,565,607 | 11,560,485 | 14,266.99 42,600 10
1996 | 66,116,257 50 560,528 4,629,395 | 16,615.99 23,189 s
1997 | 79,619,594 49 905,387 4,594,108 | 19,846.66 18,623 s
1998 | 79,038,726 a7 604,545 2,064,243 | 20,593.33 13,748 S+
1999 (104,041,538 a4 520,531 2,218,714 | 21,892.58 9,256 6
2000 |160,135,746 44 694,897 3,441,081 | 28,893.24 26.,894.76 883.67 21,066 6
2001 |222,006,166 a2 2,845,199 5,948,358 | 33,835.59 32,508.99 1,015.26 20,979 10
2002 |292,297.900 40 1,604,591 7,636,877 45,396.21 46,142.81 | 1,450.34 26,999 10
2003 |512,884,380 a1 4,290,433 | 24,237,330 | 67.586.72 55,629.64 | 1,697.87 35,954 10
2004 |879,297.296 40 5,194,558 | 35,994,853 [112,655.51 | 116,218.38 | 3,176.62 86,875 11
2005 839,852,762 a1 2,498,028 | 40,746,681 |104,510.38 | 104,941.62 | 2.859.62 75,001 11
2006 |822,862,351 a4 5,639,412 |37,040,992 |100,678.00 [107,213.42 2,942.88 41,921 11
2007 | 876,690,610 a4 2,433,488 | 29,047,425 | 107,968.00 | 106,782.82 | 2.928.98 38,621 11
2008 | 597,277,036 as 2,953,011 | 67,026,871 | 80,152.03 | 73,994.96 1,984.74 30,323 11
2009 | 544,882,559 44 1,764,894 | 12,189,895 83,321.96 | 70,995.77 1,896.05 16,099 11

+ Six (6) active Brokers

* The All Jamaican Composite started on the May 1, 2000 at 31,931.32 points

* JSE Select started on the June 1, 2000 at 1,000 points

(Cont’d on next page)
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JAMAICA STOCK EXCHANGE
YEARLY TRADING SUMMARY JUNIOR MARKET (2009)

YEAR-END
MARKET NO. OF YEAR-END
CAPITAL LISTED VOLUME VALUE NO. OF NO. JSE JNR
YEAR JAS$(Million) COMPANIES TRADED TRADED TRANS. BROKERS MARKET INDEX
2009 755.17 1 62,248 1,531,915 14 11 150.01

Corporate Information

Registered Office: The Jamaica Stock Exchange &
The Jamaica Central Securities Depository
40 Harbour Street
P.O. Box 1084
Kingston.
Telephone: (876) 967-3271-2

Fax: (876) 922 -6966

Bankers National Commercial Bank
Cnr. Duke & Barry Streets
Kingston.

Attorneys-at -law Livingston, Alexander & Levy

72 Harbour Street, Kingston

Auditors Deloitte & Touche
7 West Avenue
Kingston 4.

Website Address www.jamstockex.com

E-Mail Address jse -info @ jamstockex.com

1w




JAMAICA
STOCK

EXCHANGE

PREAMBLE

“Providing A Fair, Efficient and
Transparent Stock Market”

The Jamaica Stock Exchange recognizes that as a national self-regulatory organization with a mission to ensure and promote a
fair and efficient stock market, it must embrace and practice sound corporate governance. These principles and the attendant
structures should serve the best interest of all stakeholders and emphasize the highest standards of transparency, oversight and

independence.

The intent is to protect the investing public while advancing the interests of owners and members. Confidence in the stock market
willbe enhanced by the clear demarcation of regulatory and normal operational functions.

These practices are consistent with world best practices and adhere to the relevant legal and regulatory framework. The corporate
governance core practices of the JSE are rooted in the acceptance of the following principles:

1.

Corporate Governance should establish a clear foundation for Management and Board oversight. The role and
responsibilities of Board and Management should therefore be clearly outlined to facilitate accountability.

2. The Board of Directors should be structured and selected to ensure effectiveness, independence and protection of
the public's interests through appropriate selection and operating processes.

3. Ethical standards and responsible decision-making should be promoted.

4. Governance should ensure that there is accurate, timely and full financial and governance reporting with strong
internal controls and risk management.

5. Material information regarding the company's operations should be disclosed in a timely manner to the public and
regulatory entities.

6. There should be regular reviews of Board and Management performance to enhance effectiveness.

7. Remuneration should be fair to attract and retain competent skills, and reward consistent with performance
objectives.

8. The interests of stakeholders should be carefully balanced, protected and promoted

ISSUES DESCRIPTION/PRINCIPLE

Board Issues

Accountability to
shareholders/stakeholders

The JSE is a public company with public responsibility. It must balance the
interest of all stakeholders to foster a fair, efficient and transparent market.

Mission and Responsibility

The Board members have the responsibility to attend meetings and familiarize
themselves with, and make decisions on issues within their purview.

Elections

The provisions for elections of members are set out in the Memorandum &
Articles of the JSE and stipulate election of members on an annual basis.
Interest groups identified by the Board will propose independent members to the
Nominating Committee. Where an interest group fails to make a nomination, the
Nominating Committee will propose directors for election.

Orientation and Training

Training is made available to directors upon appointment to the Board.

The Exchange will organize orientation and training for any director within three
(3) months of appointment to the Board. The Board will pursue a programme of
continuous training and development, with emphasis placed on members
chairing committees.

Access to Information

The Board considers the provision of good quality, timely and accurate
information as a significant priority in company procedures. Management has a
responsibility to provide the Board with any information that will allow members
to properly carry out its responsibilities.

Disclosure of Directors
Biographical Information

Sufficient biographical data with the names of all directors, nominated or elected,
will be presented to shareholders and directors. This allows for the proper
selection of members to specific committees.

Composition

Board members will be drawn from different interest groups and from member-
dealers. Representation should reflect the diversity of stakeholders and the
needs of the Company. The Board shall be comprised of member dealers, an
equal number of independent directors and an independent chairman.

Multiple Board Seats

Members must declare appointments to other companies. They must, at the
beginning of the year, and as many times as their positions change, give a
written declaration to the Board of the Exchange with pertinent information
about the other Boards on which they serve.

Chairman & CEO

Any decision to combine these two positions must be justified.

Independence Directors

No director qualifies as an independent director unless the Board determines
that the director has no material relationship that could interfere with the
independent judgment of that member.
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Committees

Composition

There are both mandatory and non-compulsory committees of the Board.

The mandatory committees of the Board are comprised of the Conduct Review
Committee, the Audit Committee and the Compensation Committee. These are
referred to in the JSE's Rules.

Each Committee has a written charter outlining its purpose and responsibilities
and reporting format. Committees must meet at least twice annually.

Review Process

The Board of the JSE conducts regular reviews of the performance of the
Committees. Chairmen of Committees are required to develop and present
their key performance indicators.

Audit and Finance Committee

The Audit Committee assists the Board with oversight responsibilities in regards
to the integrity of the company's financial statements. It also serves as the
communication link between the Board, the management team and the auditors.
The Audit Committee ensures that the Company complies with legal and
regulatory requirements.

Market Oversight Committee

The Market Oversight Committee is responsible for processing and recording
applications of Member Dealers for access of Member Dealers, attorneys/
traders, to conduct business on the floor of the Exchange and their use of these
facilities.

Conduct Review Committee

The Conduct Review Committee reviews Member Dealers' conduct of business
and adherence to Business Rules, Contractual Obligations and the Securities
Act. The Conduct Review Committee is responsible to the Board of Directors
for the conduct, procedures and holding of disciplinary hearings and reviews
and to investigate complaints by investors against Member Dealers.

Regulatory & Market Oversight
Committee (RMOC)

The Regulatory and Market Oversight Committee (hereinafter called the
“RMOC”) is the Committee of the Board of Directors of the Exchange
comprising the independent directors who are not the nominees or connected
to any Member/Dealer of the Exchange. The Board of Directors of the
Exchange has delegated responsibility to the RMOC for reviewing and ensuring
compliance with and enforcement of the Laws, any Rules including Business
Rules, contractual obligations and appropriate standards of conduct governing
the Member/Dealers, their clients and participants on the Exchange.

Governance Committee

The Corporate Governance Committee is responsible to develop, recommend
and review Corporate Governance Principles, applicable to the Board,
Management and listed companies. In addition the Committee has the
responsibility to oversee the evaluation of the Board's other committees and
make recommendations in respect to the structure of and effectiveness of the
Committees.

Nominating Committee

The Nominating Committee is comprised of non-executive directors and is
responsible for the recommendation of suitable candidates to fill vacancies on
the Board.

Compensation
Committee

The Compensation Committee of the JSE is made up exclusively of non-
executive directors who make recommendations on the company's framework
of executive remuneration. The Committee reviews and approves corporate
goals in relation to the CEQO's compensation, evaluates the CEO's performance
in light of the company's goals and objectives and makes recommendations to
the Board with respect to executive and non-executive compensation.
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Listing and Standards Committee

The Listing and Standards Committee ensures the quality and integrity of a
listing on the JSE. It is responsible to process applications and make
recommendations regarding approval of companies wishing to list on the JSE
and review and make recommendations of standards to be observed for
companies to remain listed.

Other Committees

These are formed as the directors see fit and includes the Executive Committee

Board Meetings

There are formal scheduled meetings of the Board at which matters are
specifically reserved for discussions. Matters must be addressed within a
reasonable time in order to prevent an overrun of pending items.

Procedure at Board Meetings
In the interest of promoting and ensuring transparency all directors must:

Excuse himself/ herself from discussions in, and in making
decisions on any matter in which he/she has a personal or
business interest or companies on whose Board he/she sits or is
connected. Further, members shall be bound by similar
standards as outlined in Appendix 1- (Part K) of the JSE's Rules
which addresses 'Acting in Concert'.

General Meetings

General Meetings of shareholders are held each year. Communication with
shareholders on decisions concerning material, fundamental corporate changes
are made on a timely basis.

Performance

Evaluation of Board Members and Senior Executives

The Board recognizes the importance of each director working to fulfill the
mandate of the company. This evaluation is subject to the review of the
Corporate Governance Committee.

The Board recognizes the importance of evaluating the performance of each
director, senior executives and the Board as a whole.

Term Limits

Board Members are nominated by the Nominating Committee.

Committees

Chairman/Deputy Chairman

The Chairman and Deputy Chairman of the Board and Chairmen of Committees
have recommended term limits as follows:

(a) The Chairman can serve for five (5) consecutive terms;
(b) The Deputy Chairman can serve for three (3) consecutive terms;
(c) The Chairmen of Committees can serve for three (3) consecutive terms

Committee Members

Members can sit for a maximum of three consecutive years. These members
are not eligible to be re-elected in the year subsequent to the three-year
consecutive stint. Past Chairmen should automatically sit on the Executive
Committee for the year after demitting office as Chairman.

Age Limits

The JSE has no maximum age limit for members sitting on the Board.
However the minimum age limit should be 18 years.

Transparency

In order to promote transparency, Member /Dealers are asked to publish their
companies' annual accounting results. Provisions are made to codify and
publish procedures to address and/or eliminate conflict of interest involving
Board Members.

Accounting Standards

The Board is governed by the standards as communicated from the Institute
of Chartered Accountants of Jamaica.

Ethics

The Board intends to codify the JSE's current ethics and confidentiality
requirements for Directors and Management and to post this information on
the JSE's website. Any waiver of ethics for Directors or Executive Officers is
to be declared.
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as my/our proxy, to vote for me/us on my/our behalf at the Annual General Meeting of the
said company to be held onthe 24" day of June, 2010 and any adjournment thereof.

Signed this......c.oooiii day of..o.oi 2010
Signature
NOTES: 1. This Form of Proxy must be received by the Secretary of the Company

not less than 48 hours before the time appointed for the Meeting.

2. If the appointer is a Corporation, this Form of Proxy must be executed under its
Common Seal or under the hand of an officer or attorney duly authorized in writing.

3. The proxy form will attract stamp duty of J$100 which may be paid by affixing stamps or
stamp duty impressed by the Stamp Office.






